

LUND UNIVERSITY

Helicobacter pylori binding to gastric mucins and host glycosylation changes after inoculation

Lindén, Sara

2004

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Lindén, S. (2004). *Helicobacter pylori binding to gastric mucins and host glycosylation changes after inoculation*. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Department of Experimental Medical Science]. Sara Lindén, Box 119, 26035 Ödåkra, Sweden,.

Total number of authors: 1

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply: Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00



MEDICINSKA FAKULTETEN Lunds universitet

Helicobacter pylori binding to gastric mucins and host glycosylation changes after inoculation

Sara Lindén

Department of Cell and Molecular Biology Lund University Sweden

Akademisk avhandling Som för vinnande av doktorsexamen i medicinsk vetenskap vid Medicinska fakulteten vid Lunds universitet kommer att offentligen försvaras i Rune Grubb-salen, BMC, Lund, fredagen den 13:e februari 2004, Kl. 09.00

> Fakultetsopponent: Professor Dallas Swallow University College London, UK

Organization LUND UNIVERSITY	Document name DOCTORAL DISSERTATION	
Dept. of Cell & Molecular biology Section for cell & Matrix Biology BMC C13	Date of issue 2004-02-13	
	Sponsoring organization	
	The work was supported by a grant from the	
Author(s)	(Glycoconjugates in Biological Systems)	
Sara Lindén	(Grycoconjugates in Diological Systems)	
Title and subtitle		

Helicobacter pylori binding to gastric mucins and host glycosylation changes after inoculation

Abstract

Helicobacter pylori may cause gastritis, gastric/duodenal ulcer and gastric cancer. During infection, most H. pylori are found in the gastric mucus layer, but some are attached to, or have penetrated, epithelial cells. The aim of this study is to characterize the binding of H. pylori to gastric mucins and to investigate host changes that occur after inoculation. Results: H. pylori binds to mucins by at least 3 different mechanisms: 1) to host Leb and related structures via the BabA adhesin, 2) to host sialyl-Lex via the SabA adhesin and 3) to sialylated host structures at low pH. H. pylori strains expressing the BabA adhesin bind to the human MUC5AC mucin via Leb and to a gastric low-molecular-mass mucin-like molecule (possibly MUC1) via the H-type-1 structure. Leb-positive MUC5AC glycoforms differed in their receptor properties for different H. pylori strains. At pH 3, Leb binding was abolished, although all strains bound to a proteoglycan containing chondroitin sulfate/dermatan sulfate chains, to a component behaving as a monomeric mucin of higher charge and larger size than the subunits of MUC5AC/MUC6, and to a highly charged MUC5AC glycoform. Rhesus monkey and human gastric mucins are similar with respect to tissue localization, size, density, glycoforms, terminal carbohydrate substitution and H. pylori binding. After H. pylori inoculation, 8 of 10 monkeys developed persistent infection accompanied by gastritis. muc5AC and muc6 localized to the mucous cells of the surface epithelium and to the glands respectively, and no muc2 or sulfo-mucins were detected during the 10-month period investigated. A transient increase in sialylated Lewis antigens occurred as early as one week after inoculation. Furthermore, Lea and/or Leb expression briefly decreased in 5/7 Leb-positive animals, but later tended to increase, and in Lea/Leb negative animals Lea and/or Leb increased to a variable extent. H. pylori adherence in vitro reflects these glycosylation changes in that an increased binding with a sialyl-Lex binding strain, and an initial decrease in adherence by a Leb-binding one were observed, suggesting that the SabA and BabA adhesins play complementary roles during infection. Conclusions: H. pylori binding to mucins at neutral pH is strain, blood-group and glycoform dependent whereas binding at acidic pH seems to be a common feature for all strains. The host responds rapidly to bacterial challenge by changing the expression of carbohydrate structures used by the microbe for adhesion.

Key words: H. pylori, mucin, mucin glycoform, MUC5AC, host-pathogen interaction, gastric protection

Classification system and/or index termes (if any):

Supplementary bibliographical information:		Language			
		English			
ISSN and key title:		ISBN			
		91-628-5952-8			
Recipient's notes	Number of pages	Price			
	Security classification	1			

Distribution by (name and address)

Signature Vara

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission of publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Date

6/1-2004

no

CONTENTS

LIST OF PAPERS	1
ABBREVIATIONS	2
INTRODUCTION	3
BACKGROUND	4
The mucosal surface – a barrier against the outside world	4
The stomach	5
Mucins – an integral part of the barrier	8
Pathogen strategies for invasion/escape of host defense	15
Helicobacter pylori	16
PRESENT INVESTIGATION	22
H. pylori binding to human gastric mucins (papers I & II)	22
The rhesus monkey as a model for <i>H. pylori</i> -host interactions (paper III)	25
Effects of <i>H. pylori</i> infection on host mucins (paper IV)	27
DISCUSSION	30
OVERALL CONCLUSIONS	34
FUTURE OUTLOOK	35
POPULARIZED SUMMARY IN SWEDISH	36
Magsårsbakterien H. pylori binder till och förändrar magens slemhinna	36
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	40
REFERENCES	42
APPENDIX; PAPERS I-IV	

LIST OF PAPERS

This thesis is based on the following papers referred to in the text by their Roman numerals.

- I. Sara Lindén, Henrik Nordman, Jan Hedenbro, Marina Hurtig, Thomas Borén, and Ingemar Carlstedt. Strain- and blood-group dependent binding of *Helicobacter pylori* to human gastric MUC5AC glycoforms. Gastroenterology 2002;123:1923-1930. Reprinted from with permission from the American Gastroenterological Association.
- II. Sara Lindén, Jafar Mahadavi, Jan Hedenbro, Thomas Borén, and Ingemar Carlstedt. Effects of pH on *Helicobacter pylori* binding to human gastric mucins identification of binding to non-MUC5AC mucins. Manuscript.
- III. Sara Lindén, Thomas Borén, André Dubois and Ingemar Carlstedt. Rhesus monkey gastric mucins: Oligomeric structure, glycoforms and *Helicobacter pylori* binding. In press, Biochemical Journal 2004.
- IV. Sara Lindén, Jafar Mahdavi, Cara Olsen, Thomas Borén, Ingemar Carlstedt and André Dubois. Effects of *Helicobacter pylori* inoculation on host glycosylation and *H. pylori* adhesion sites in rhesus monkey. Manuscript.

ABBREVIATIONS

AlpA	Adherence-associated lipoprotein A
AlpB	Adherence-associated lipoprotein B
BabA	Blood-group binding adhesin
CF	Cystic fibrosis
DU	Duodenal ulcer
ECM	Extracellular matrix
EGF	Epidermal growth factor
Fuc	Fucose
Gal	Galactose
GalNAc	N-acetylgalactosamine
GlcNAc	N-acetylglucosamine
GI	Gastrointestinal
IL	Interleukin
Le	Lewis
LPS	Lipopolysaccharides
MAL	Maakia amurensis II
NAP	Neutrophil activating protein
NLBH	Neuraminyl-Lactose-Binding Adhesin
PAI	Pathogenicity island
PNA	Peanut agglutinin
PUD	Peptic ulcer disease
SabA	Sialic acid binding adhesin
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor alpha
TR	Tandem repeat
VNTR	Variable number of tandem repeats
vWF	Von Willebrand factor

INTRODUCTION

The average person carries in the order of 10^{14} bacteria, which live in harmony with our mere 10¹³ host cells. The majority of these microbes protects the host from pathogens and some even provide nutrients. However, the human body also encounters potentially pathogenic bacteria every day although establishment of infections after such contacts is rare relative to the frequency of exposure. The skin and mucosal surfaces, which comprise the barrier between the body and the external milieu, are the first lines of defense, and colonization of these surfaces is normally the first step in bacterial disease. In adult humans, the area of the skin is approximately 2 m^2 whereas the mucosal surfaces together comprise about 400 m^2 . As a physical barrier, the skin is reinforced by dry, slightly acidic conditions, sloughing of cells and a resident microflora. The non-keratinized mucosal surfaces on the other hand, have additional functions such as secretion of digestive enzymes and absorption of nutrients that require the barrier to be 'semi-permeable' with ensuing demands on their design. In addition to sloughing of cells and a resident microflora, the mucosal surfaces are protected by a mucus layer. This gel-like layer is formed by highly glycosylated proteins referred to as mucins and is efficient in trapping microorganisms. The mucus gel is constantly shed on the luminal side and replenished by secretion from the underlying epithelium, resulting in a continuous 'washing' of the mucosal surface. In addition, the mucus gel contains protective proteins that defend against pathogens, and in the gastrointestinal (GI) tract bacteria are killed by acid and bile salts. The underlying cells relay signals to activate the immune system and mobilization of tissue and blood defense mechanisms is an important aspect of host defense. However, such mechanisms may be accompanied by tissue damage, and infectious diseases are often aggravated by an excessive host response to the invading pathogen. Invading pathogens also have weapons (virulence factors) to fight the host with, for example toxins and mucin-degrading enzymes which may disrupt the mucus layer.¹ However, due to the efficient host defense mechanisms, most interactions are benign or short, and only when the microbe avoids early killing by the host can a persistent infection be established. Within the human population there is considerable variation in the ability to resist infections and one individual may effectively ward off a certain pathogen while being susceptible to attack from another.

This thesis describes some aspects of host-pathogen interactions at the interface between the inside and outside of the body. The interaction of the ulcerogenic and carcinogenic bacterium *Helicobacter pylori* with the gastric mucosa is used as a model and the work is focused on mucins and mucin glycosylation.

BACKGROUND

The mucosal surface – a barrier against the outside world

Most pathogens cause disease by disrupting and/or penetrating mucosal surfaces, and in order to be successful they have to circumvent the host defense. The first barrier the pathogen encounters is the highly hydrated mucus gel that covers the mucosal surface and protects the epithelial cells against chemical, enzymatic, microbial and mechanical insult. The mucus gel is formed by high-molecular-mass oligomeric glycoproteins (mucins) and protection is reinforced by a number of 'defense factors' (Table 1) trapped in the gel matrix. The thickness of the mucus layer is highly variable depending on, for example, tissue location. In addition, the data reported vary with the method used for the measurements. In a study performed on the rat GI tract in vivo, the mucus gel was found to consist of a firmly adherent layer with a thickness of 15-154 μ m and a loosely adherent one of 108-714 μ m.² The functional significance of the two layers has not been established, but their presence may be explained by differences in mucin concentration.² Underneath the mucus layer, the cells present a dense forest of highly diverse glycoproteins and glycolipids, which form the glycocalyx (Figure 1). Again, the thickness is highly variable; for example the glycocalyx of cat and human intestinal microvilli tips is 0.1-0.5µm thick whereas that of the lateral microvilli surface is 30-60 nm.³⁻⁵ In the electron microscope, the glycocalyx appears as filaments attached to the plasma membrane. The oligosaccharide moieties of the molecules forming the glycocalyx and the mucus layer are highly diverse and the average turnover time of the human jejunum glycocalyx is 6-12 hours.⁶ Consequently, the mucosal surfaces presented to the outside world are constantly renewed and could potentially be adjusted to changes in the environment, *e.g.* microbial attacks. Alteration in glycosylation has been proposed to influence cell adhesion, receptor activation, cell differentiation, and tissue morphogenesis.

Protein	Function		
Lysozyme	Digests bacterial peptidoglycans, <i>i.e.</i> breaks down the		
	bacterial cell wall ⁷		
Lactoferrin	Prevents bacterial growth by binding iron		
Lactoperoxidase	Kills bacteria by generating superoxide radicals		
Defensins	Introduce ion-permeable channels in the bacterial cell		
	membrane ⁷		
Trefoil factors	Involved in wound healing		
Secretory IgA	<i>e.g.</i> prevents bacterial attachment to mucosal cells ⁷		

Table 1. Examples of 'defense proteins' present in mucus.



Figure 1. Pictorial representation of the mucosal barrier consisting of the mucus layer and the glycocalyx. The mucins comprising the mucus layer are composed of subunits joined by disulphide bonds. The threadlike oligomers have regions with a high oligosaccharide density giving these domains a 'bottle-brush' appearance. The oligosaccharide chains are depicted as short lines perpendicular to the mucin apoprotein and the link between the subunits as \bullet .

The stomach

The stomach disintegrates food mechanically and chemically. The acidic gastric juice and proteolytic enzymes kill many of the bacteria that are swallowed and individuals with achlorhydria are more susceptible to intestinal infections than those with normal gastric pH.⁸ Acid secretion is induced by a variety of stimuli and governed by the endocrine cells of the stomach. Gastrin is released from the G cells of the antral mucosa and travels through the blood stream to the corpus where the enterochromaffin like cells are stimulated to secrete histamine which, in turn, stimulates the parietal cells to secrete acid.⁹ In contrast, somatostatin, prostaglandins, interleukin (IL)-1 β and epidermal growth factor (EGF) inhibit acid secretion.⁹ The viscous mucus layer (average thickness of the human firmly adherent layer 144 µm¹⁰) acts as a barrier for large molecules thus protecting the gastric mucosa against *e.g.* pepsin. In addition, mucus acts as an 'unstirred layer' in which bicarbonate ions secreted by the surface epithelium counteract protons diffusing from the lumen into the gel, causing the pH in the mucus layer to range from acidic in the lumen to neutral at the cell surface (Figure 2).¹¹ Bicarbonate ion secretion is stimulated by the presence of acid in the gastric lumen and transport across the apical epithelial membrane probably occurs by chloride ion/bicarbonate ion exchange.¹¹



Figure 2. The pH gradient in the gastric mucus layer. The pH gradient ranging from acidic in the lumen to neutral at the cell surface is formed by opposing diffusion of luminal acid and bicarbonate secreted by the surface epithelial cells.¹¹

The gastric mucosa

In the stomach, the surface epithelium is connected via the foveolae and neck region to the deeper gastric glands (Figure 3). The surface/foveolar epithelium is formed by a single layer of tall columnar mucin-producing cells that have a basal nucleus below an apical cup of mucin. These cells have a turnover rate of 3-6 days.¹² Undifferentiated stem cells are located in the neck region (Figure 3) and migrate outwards along the foveolar axis differentiating into mucous cells, and inwards differentiating into mucous, parietal, chief and endocrine cells (Figure 3).¹² Outward migration is fast and the cells reach the lumen in about 2-3 days, whereas inward migration is slower; the bottom of antral/pyloric glands is reached in about 14 days and the bottom of corpus/fundic glands in about 200 days. The lamina propria contains inflammatory cells (plasma cells, lymphocytes and eosinophils), which are more numerous toward the mucosal surface and the antrum.¹³ Lymphoid aggregates are found dispersed along the muscularis mucosa, especially in *H. pylori* infection.¹³



Figure 3. The regions of the stomach. Cardia. (A), corpus/fundus (B), antrum (C) are histologically different. In the gastric mucosa, the surface/foveolar epithelium is covered by a single layer of tall columnar mucin-producing cells whereas in the duodenum (D) mucin-producing goblet cells are interspersed among the enterocytes. In the stomach, undifferentiated stem cells located in the neck region migrate outwards or inwards specializing into mucous, parietal, chief and endocrine cells. The bars in panels a and c indicate 50 µm.

Histologically, the stomach is divided into three different regions - cardia, corpus/fundus and antrum/pylorus (Figure 3). The cardia comprises the proximal 0.5-2 cm of the stomach,⁹ and the gastric foveolae occupy approximately half the mucosal thickness in this region (Figure 3A). The glandular compartment is composed of coiled glands lined by cuboidal mucus-producing cells and scattered pyramidal shaped parietal cells. In corpus and fundus, the gastric pits are shallow and occupy 1/4th or less of the mucosal thickness. Here the glands are unbranched (Figure 3B). Most cells in the upper part of the glands are acid-secreting parietal cells, whereas the lower half of the glands is dominated by cuboidal chief (peptic) cells that secrete digestive enzymes (pepsinogen and lipase). Most of the endocrine cells are found in the lower third of the glands. The antrum/pylorus occupies the distal 1/4th of the stomach. The tissue architecture of antrum/pylorus is similar to that of the cardia with foveolae occupying approximately half the mucosal thickness and the glandular compartment being composed of coiled glands lined by cuboidal mucous cells (Figure 3C). Sparse parietal cells and endocrine cells are located in the connecting neck region, and the endocrine cells are dominated by gastrin-producing (G) cells.⁹

The gastric content is emptied into the duodenum. The normal duodenal mucosa is lined by a columnar epithelium with absorptive cells and goblet cells, and have Brunner's glands/cells in the submucosa (figure 3D).¹⁴ In gastric metaplasia of the duodenum, this region displays gastric characteristics necessary for *H. pylori* colonization.

Mucins – an integral part of the barrier

The mucus polymer matrix is formed by large (in the order of 10⁷ Da) secreted mucins, which confer viscoelastic properties. In addition, there are membrane-associated mucins, which are smaller than the gel-forming ones, but still larger than most other membrane-bound glycoproteins. Each mucin gene contains unique tandem repeat (TR) motifs coding for regions with a high density of serine, threonine and proline. The TR varies in length between the mucins, and there is a genetic polymorphism in the number of repeats referred to as Variable Number of Tandem Repeats (VNTR) polymorphism. The VNTR polymorphisms cause mucin size to differ between individuals (Figure 4). The serine and threonine residues can be *O*-glycosylated and more than 50% (often 70-80%) of the mucin molecular mass is due to carbohydrate. Each mucin carries in the order of 100 different oligosaccharide structures.¹⁵ These carbohydrate chains are often clustered into highly glycosylated domains, giving the mucin a 'bottle-brush' appearance. To date, at least 14 human mucins have been described, and the expression profile of mucins varies between tissues (table 2).

The secreted gel-forming mucins are oligomeric structures formed by subunits linked by disulfide bridges. Monomeric mucins can also be secreted as, for example, salivary MUC7. The mucins are produced by cells in the epithelial surface and/or by glands located in the submucosal connective tissues and secretion occurs via both constitutive and a regulated pathways.¹⁶ The constitutive pathway continuously secretes a small amount of mucin to maintain the mucus layer, whereas the regulated pathway affords a massive discharge as a response to environmental and/or (patho)physiological stimuli.¹⁶ Stimulated mucin release occurs rapidly and is accompanied by a hundredfold or so expansion of the secretory granules.¹⁶



Figure 4. Schematic drawing of MUC1, MUC4 and a MUC5B subunit drawn to scale relative to each other.¹⁷ The length of the glycosylated domains differ between alleles and here the filled part indicates the shortest allele whereas the filled together with the open part represents the longest one. The lengths of the glycosylated domains are estimated with the assumption that the length/amino acid is 0.25nm in this part of the molecule.¹⁷ Reproduced by the permission of the authors and the Novartis Foundation.

The membrane-associated mucins provide a barrier that limits access of other cells and large molecules to the cell surface. These glycoproteins have a hydrophobic membrane-spanning domain, a C-terminal cytoplasmic 'tail' with putative sites for serine and tyrosine phosphorylation, SEA modules located in the extracellular region (possibly for signaling through dimerization¹⁸) and EGF-like domains.¹⁹⁻²³ The membrane-associated mucins can occur in secreted, non-membrane bound forms as a result of alternative splicing or proteolysis.^{24, 25} MUC1 is an extensively studied membrane-associated mucin, and in addition to the membrane-bound form, secreted variants of this mucin have been reported.^{24, 26} The gene products of the splice variants have been described to have different signal sequences, suggesting that they may be differently processed.²⁷ MUC1 towers 200-500 nm (depending on the number of tandem repeats) above the plasma membrane,²⁸ and is thus 'taller' than most other glycoproteins at the cell surface. The full length cDNA of MUC1 encodes an amino terminal domain consisting of a signal peptide and degenerative repeats, a large VNTR (Figure 4), and a carboxy-terminus consisting of degenerate repeats, a mucinlike unique sequence, a hydrophobic membrane-spanning stretch and a highly conserved cytoplasmic domain.²⁶ MUC1 is cleaved in the endoplasmic reticulum somewhere between 53-71 amino acids upstream of the trans-membrane region (in the SEA module), and the cleavage products remain associated as a heterodimer through non-covalent interactions.²⁹ MUC1 associated with the cell-surface is constantly internalized (0.9% of the surface fraction/min) and recycled.³⁰ Internalization occurs by clathrin-mediated endocytosis, and alterations in O-glycan structure stimulate endocytosis and intracellular accumulation.³¹ During recycling, sialic acid is added to the premature form of MUC1.³⁰ Complete sialylation requires several rounds of recycling, one cycle taking approximately 2.5h.³⁰ Pulse-chase experiments indicate that the half-life of MUC1 in the plasma membrane is 16-24 hours^{30, 32} suggesting that the average MUC1 molecule recycles up to 10 times before release.³⁰ The cytoplasmic tail appears to interact with the cytoskeleton and secondary signaling molecules whereas the extracellular domain interacts with extracellular matrix components and other cells.^{33, 34} In addition, the MUC1/Y transmembrane splice variant lacking the TR region may interact with the secreted MUC1/SEC causing phosphorylation of the cytoplasmic tail and alterations in cell morphology, which suggests that the MUC1 gene may generate both a ligand and its receptor.³⁵ muc1 null mice display chronic infection and inflammation of the reproductive tract, reducing fertility rates, although only normal endogenous bacteria were isolated suggesting that these species become opportunistic with loss of muc1.³⁶ In addition, muc1 null mice have a high frequency of eye inflammation/infection involving Corynebacteria, Staphylococci and Strepto*cocci.*³⁷ In humans, there is an increased frequency of homozygotes for the short allelic form of MUC1 among humans with *H. pylori* gastritis.³⁸ Consequently, MUC1 is likely to play an important role in mucosal defense.

Mucin	Distribution	Mucin type	References
MUC1	Stomach, breast, gallbladder, cervix, pancreas, airways, duodenum, colon, kidney, B cells, T cells, dendritic cells	Membrane- bound and secreted	24, 33, 39, 40
MUC2	Small intestine, colon	Secreted, oligomeric	41, 42
MUC3A/ MUC3B	Small intestine, colon, gall bladder, duodenum	Membrane- bound and secreted	43, 44 45
MUC4	Trachea, colon, stomach, cervix, lung	Membrane- bound and secreted	19, 46
MUC5AC	Airways, stomach, endocervix	Secreted, oligomeric	47
MUC5B	Airways, salivary glands, cervix, gallbladder	Secreted, oligomeric	17, 45 47
MUC6	Stomach, duodenum, gallbladder, pancreas, seminal fluid, cervix	Secreted, oligomeric	48 47 45
MUC7	Salivary glands	Secreted, monomeric	49
MUC11-12	Colon	Membrane- bound	21
MUC13	Colon, trachea (kidney, small intestine, appendix, stomach)	Membrane- bound	20
MUC16	Mullerian duct (embryonic, developing into reproductive structures)	Membrane- bound	50
MUC17	Small intestine, colon, (stomach), duodenum	Membrane- bound	22
MUC19	'In silico'		51

 Table 2. Tissue distribution of mucins. Organs in parentheses represent low levels

Mucin glycosylation

The carbohydrate structures present on mucosal surfaces vary according to cell lineage, tissue location, and developmental stage. In addition, they undergo changes during malignant transformations, act as receptors for microorganisms and possibly play a role in evasion of pathogenic bacteria. The massive O-glycosylation of the mucins protects them from proteolytic enzymes and induces a relatively extended conformation.⁵² The oligosaccharides are clustered into heavily glycosylated domains (typically 600-1200 amino acids long) separated by shorter non-glycosylated regions.⁵² The extended conformation causes the molecules to occupy large volumes, and the secreted oligomeric mucins occupy domains equivalent to those of small bacteria.⁵² The size of the polymer is an important factor in the formation of entangled gels, and cleavage of disulfide bonds will disintegrate mucus.¹¹ The extended conformation of the membrane-associated mucins enables them to extend far above the cell surface,⁵² most likely further into the cell environment than most of the other glycoproteins comprising the glycocalyx. The O-linked glycans contain 1-20 residues, which occur both as linear and branched structures. The carbohydrate chain is initiated with an N-acetylgalactosamine (GalNAc) linked to serine or threonine and is elongated by the formation of the so-called core structures (there are 8 cores structures referred to as cores 1-8) followed by the backbone region (type-1 and type-2 chains).⁵³ The chains are terminated by e.g. fucose (Fuc), galactose (Gal), GalNAc or sialic acid residues in the peripheral region, forming histo-blood-group antigens such as A, B, H, Lewis a (Le^a), Lewis b (Le^b), Lewis x (Le^x), Lewis y (Le^y), as well as sialyl-Le^a and sialyl-Le^x structures (figure 5). Sulfation of Gal and *N*-acetylglucosamine (GlcNAc) residues causes further diversification. In addition to the O-linked glycans, mucins are substituted by a smaller number of N-linked oligosaccharides which have been implicated in folding, oligomerization (MUC2) or surface localization (MUC17).⁵⁴⁻⁵⁶ The carbohydrate structures present depend on the glycosyl transferases expressed in the cells, *i.e.* by the genotype of the individual. The H1 structure is made by the *secretor* (Se) gene product, and the majority (80% of Caucasians, all South American Indians and Orientals) carry this structure and are thus referred to as 'secretors'.⁵⁷ Individuals may also express the Lewis (Le) gene (90% of the Caucasian population), and provided that they are also secretors will then express the Le^b structure on H1.^{57, 58} If they are non-secretors, Le^a will be expressed on type-1 chains (Figure 5).^{57, 58} The terminal structures of mucin oligosaccharides are highly heterogeneous and vary between/within species and even with tissue location within a single individual. Possibly, this structural diversity allows us to cope with diverse and rapidly changing pathogens, as reflected by the observation that susceptibility to specific pathogens differs between people with different histo-blood groups.⁵⁹ In addition, glycosylation changes occur during infection/inflammation, as in the rat small intestine during infection with the parasite Nippostrongylus brasiliensis,60 and in individuals with cystic fibrosis or chronic bronchitis.⁶¹ H. pylori-infected individuals have been found to have higher levels of sialyl-Le^a than non-infected ones,⁶² however it is not known whether this difference is a predisposing factor for infection or a consequence thereof.



Figure 5. Schematic drawing of some oligosaccharide structures present on mucins. (Adapted from Herrmann, ⁵³ with permission). The enzyme encoded by H works preferentially on type 2 chains and the enzyme encoded by Se on type 1 chains, although some overlap occurs.^{57, 58}

Gastric mucins

In the stomach, MUC5AC and MUC6 are the major secreted mucins, the former being produced by the surface epithelium and the latter by the glands.⁶³ The membraneassociated MUC1 mucin has also been identified in the stomach.⁴⁰ Both MUC5AC and MUC6 are large oligomeric mucins that occur as distinct glycoforms. The molecular mass of MUC5AC subunits is 2-3x10⁶ Da,¹⁷ and MUC5AC is highly oligomerized, containing at least 18 subunits.⁶⁴ This mucin has an extended conformation,⁶⁴ and the N- and C-terminal ends show homologies to the von Willebrand factor (vWF). MUC6 has only been partially sequenced, but has a long TR and C-terminal similarities with the vWF.⁶⁵ The Le^a and Le^b blood-group antigens mainly appear in the surface epithelium, whereas the Le^x and Le^y antigens are expressed in mucous, chief and parietal cells of the glands.^{63, 66} Thus, the Le type-1 structures co-localize with MUC5AC whereas Le type-2 structures co-localize with MUC6. However, some reports indicate that this distribution is not always that distinct.^{66, 67} The mucins from a healthy human stomach express low levels of sialic acid and sulfate, and are therefore predominantly neutral.

Mucins in the diseased stomach

In gastric precancerous lesions and cancer, altered expression of MUC5AC, MUC6, MUC2 and MUC5B has been described,⁶⁸ with MUC2 being a marker for intestinal metaplasia. MUC1 is often over-expressed in epithelial cancer and has been implicated in adhesion and metastatic processes. Over-expression of MUC1 correlates with poor prognosis in a variety of cancer types.⁶⁹ Glycosylation of cancer-associated MUC1 is incomplete/truncated (4-6 sugar units), exposing internal sugar units and naked peptide sequences that are hidden on the normal mucin.⁶⁹ Expression of aberrantly glycosylated MUC1 correlates (whereas MUC5AC inversely correlates) with depth of invasion, tumor stage and lymph node metastasis, and patients with gastric tumors with a MUC5AC⁻/MUC1⁺ phenotype show low survival rate.⁷⁰ In H. *pvlori* infected adults, aberrant MUC6 expression in the surface epithelium has been observed,⁷¹ and the highly glycosylated 'ectodomain' of MUC1 seems to disappear from the luminal gastric surface.³⁸ In cancer, loss of correct tissue architecture/topology may allow mucins to be expressed and secreted on all surfaces of the epithelial cells, and soluble mucins may then enter the circulation. Mucins appear to be the major carrier of altered glycosylation in carcinomas,⁷² and incomplete glycosylation, leading to expression of Tn and T antigens, and/or sialylation/sulfation is common.⁷² Sialyl-Le^x and sialyl-Le^a are frequently over-expressed in carcinomas, and expression of these antigens by epithelial carcinomas correlates with tumor progression, metastatic spread and poor prognosis.⁷² In most gastric tumors, acidic mucins predominate.⁷³ A shift in gastric mucin production may be detected in the diseased stomach before morphological changes are evident and could thus provide a valuable diagnostic tool.

Pathogen strategies for invasion/escape of host defense

The outcome of a persistent colonization can be symbiosis, commensalism or parasitism. The ability of bacteria to adhere, invade, evade host defenses and cause tissue damage is largely due to their ability to produce colonization and virulence factors. Colonization factors can, for example, be involved in adherence, iron acquisition and motility.⁷⁴ In addition, bacteria can have virulence factors that damage the host or undermine host defense, such as toxins and proteolytic enzymes.⁷⁵ To escape the host defense, pathogens can use sequestration (*i.e.* formation of a physical barrier against the host), humoral evasion strategies (*e.g.* expression of poorly immunogenic antigens or antigenic variation, mimicry and masking) and cellular evasion mechanisms (*e.g.* killing of phagocytes, inhibition of chemotaxis or phagocytosis, occupation of a 'safe' intracellular space, resistance to intra-vacuolar killing and suppression of cellular responses by cytokine manipulation).⁷⁶ Bacteria encounter a large variety of environmental situations, including changes in temperature, osmotic pressure, pH, oxygen and nutrition levels, and are highly competent in adapting to a changing environment.

Adherence to host cells

To colonize mucosal surfaces and invade the host, microbes commonly exploit host cell structures. Bacterial adhesion to host cells is thought to be mediated by hydrophobic interactions, cation-bridging (*i.e.* divalent cations counteracting the repulsion of the negatively charged surfaces of bacteria and host) and receptor ligand binding. One of the most extensively studied mechanisms of adhesion is the lectin and its corresponding glycosylated receptor. Bacteria may have multiple adhesins with different carbohydrate specificities, and modulation of surface receptor density, kinetic parameters, or topographical distributions of these receptors on cell membranes regulate adhesion. Binding is usually of low affinity, but clustering of adhesins and receptors cause multivalency effects. Fimbriae (or pili), outer membrane proteins and cell wall components (e.g. lipopolysaccharides, LPS), may all function as adhesins.⁷⁴ Adhesion can effect the bacteria by stimulation/inhibition of growth as well as induction of other adhesive structures and proteins required for invasion whereas effects of adhesion on host cells can be altered morphology, fluid loss, induction of cytokine release, upregulation of adhesion molecules and apoptosis. However some bacteria, as for example members of the normal microflora such as Enterococci and Lactobacilli, can colonize without any apparent effects.⁸

Host-microbe communication

Eukaryotic cells and bacteria communicate through a wide variety of signals such as toxins, metabolites, hormones, antibacterial peptides, enzymes and surface structures. There are 2000-5000 signal transduction proteins on the average mammalian cell, and a large number of lipid mediators are also involved in cell-cell and intracellular communication. In addition, bacteria use complex cell-cell and intracellular pathways to communicate, and have the capacity to utilize eukaryotic signaling pathways during infection. One example of how a pathogen has 'manipulated' its host to its advantage

is *Bacteroides thetaiotaomicron* that induces fucosylation of mucin oligosaccharides which the bacteria then uses as a nutritient.⁷⁷

Helicobacter pylori

Spiral gram-negative bacteria have been observed in the human stomach.⁷⁸ Of the infectious agents causing gastric pathogenicity, *H. pylori* is the most common one, however *Helicobacter heilmannii* can cause milder forms of gastritis.^{79, 80} In addition, other pathogens such as *Mycobacterium* spp., Herpes and Cytomegalovirus, fungi and parasites can infect/affect the gastric mucosa during special circumstances such as immunosuppression.⁸¹



Figure 6. Image of *H. pylori* printed by permission of ÄRZTLICHE PRAXIS. *H. pylori* is a Gram-negative, rod/spiral-shaped micro-aerophilic bacterium,⁸² that can cause peptic ulcer disease and gastric cancer.^{83 84} The microbe is well adapted to the gastric mucus niche, having long whip-like flagella facilitating locomotion through the mucus layer. In addition, surface-bound urease that catalyzes the hydrolysis of urea to ammonia and carbon dioxide allows the microbe to 'neutralize' its microenvironment. Flagella, urease, adhesins, and genes encoding proteins with a predicted function in chemotaxis are essential for *H. pylori* colonization of laboratory

animals.^{85, 86} Furthermore, superoxide dismutase and catalase protect the microbe from oxidative damage.⁸⁶ Strains vary in pathogenicity, and the Cag pathogenicity island (PAI) that comprises approximately 30 genes associated with pathogenicity is present in pathogenic strains but not in avirulent ones.^{82, 86} Some of these genes have close sequence similarities with a type IV secretion system, which provides a mechanism for transfer of bacterial proteins into eukaryotic cells.⁸² Strains with mutations in the *ureB*, *pldA* and *fliQ* of the CagPAI induce less apoptosis in a gastric carcinoma cell line (AGS) than their parent strain.⁸⁷ In addition, the vacuolating cytotoxin encoded by *VacA* causes vacuolation of epithelial cells *in vitro*.⁸²

H. pylori and mucins

During natural infection, *H. pylori* is mainly found in the gastric mucus layer,⁸⁸ although some (less than 1%) are also attached to the surface of, or found within, epithelial cells and the lamina propria.^{86, 89} The highly diverse mucin glycosylation presents multiple potential binding motifs for *H. pylori*. The microbe binds to human and pig mucins,⁹⁰⁻⁹² and co-localization of MUC5AC producing cells and *H. pylori* has been shown in morphological investigations.^{93, 94} In addition, *H. pylori* binds to the 'mucin like' salivary agglutinin.⁹⁵ The proportion of oligomeric gel-forming mucin in the adherent mucus layer is reduced in *H. pylori* positive individuals.⁹⁶ Mucin synthesis is partially inhibited in a gastric adenocarcinoma cell line (KATO III) when incubated with *H. pylori*, although no effect was found on mucin secretion.^{97, 98} In contrast, mucin secretion was decreased in a colonic cancer cell line (Cl. 16E) and

in rat gastric mucosal cells.^{99, 100} This discrepancy further stresses the need for appropriate models to study the effects of *H. pylori* on mucins.

H. pylori and the extracellular matrix (ECM)

H. pylori interacts with heparin and heparan sulfate with a binding maximum at pH 4-5 and with laminin (via 3-sialyllactose) and vitronectin at neutral pH.¹⁰¹⁻¹⁰⁴ In the healthy stomach, some of these ECM components are most likely not available for *H. pylori* binding early in the colonization process, but may be exposed when the normal tissue architecture is compromised. In addition, *H. pylori* binds to plasminogen, and after 'activation', plasmin may degrade ECM components.¹⁰⁵

H. pylori adhesins

The genome of *H. pylori* codes for a large number (32) of outer membrane proteins,¹⁰⁶ and at least five different adhesins (see below) have been implicated in *H. pylori* adherence. Different adhesins may mediate adherence to various sites in the stomach, or in other reservoirs such as the oral cavity.

The blood-group binding adhesin (BabA) recognizes the Le^b and H-type-1 structures, and Le^b mediates attachment of *H. pylori* to the human gastric mucosa.¹⁰⁷ The majority of the *H. pylori* strains investigated carry the *BabA2* gene encoding the BabA adhesin.^{108, 109} Colonization with *H. pylori* strains expressing the BabA adhesin correlates with development of severe gastric disease,^{109, 110} and presence of the BabA2 gene in the bacterial genome has been shown to be a pathogenesis factor in the development of adenocarcinoma.¹⁰⁹

The sialic acid binding adhesin (SabA) is encoded by the JHP662 gene.¹¹¹ SabA recognizes the sialyl-Le^x and sialyl-di-Le^x structures, and 43% of the SabA positive strains also bind sialyl-Le^a.¹¹¹ Of 95 Swedish clinical isolates, 39% bound sialyl-Le^x, and the prevalence of this adhesin was higher in CagA positive than in CagA negative strains.¹¹¹ Most (80%) of SabA positive strains are also BabA positive.¹¹¹ SabA positive *BabA1A2* mutants adhere to inflamed tissue, but not to healthy gastric mucosa.¹¹¹ Neuraminyl-Lactose-Binding Adhesin (NLBH) binds to *N*-acetylneuraminyl-(α 2,3)-lactose (3-sialyllactose), and consequently has a very similar specificity to that of SabA.¹¹² Although some of the data reported concerning the gene(s) encoding SabA and NLBH are conflicting, a recent report indicates that these adhesins are actually the same.¹¹³

The *H. pylori* neutrophil activating protein (NAP) binds to sulfated carbohydrate structures such as sulfo-Le^a, sulfated glycosphingolipids, the NeuAc α 3Gal β -4GlcNAc β 3Gal β 4GlcNAc β sequence from *e.g.* human granulocytes, and the high-molecular-mass salivary mucin at neutral pH.^{114, 115} In addition, strain NCTC11637 binds to sulfatides at neutral pH, and binding was inhibited by sulfated glycoconjugates such as heparin and pig gastric mucin.¹¹⁶ *H. pylori* NAP induces neutrophil adhesion to endothelial cells.¹¹²

H. pylori lipopolysaccharides substituted with Le^x antigen have also been implicated in adhesion, although the corresponding host lectin remains unknown.¹¹⁷ Anti- Le^x antibodies have been found to label both the microbes and associated gastric epithelial adhesion pedestals.¹¹² Most (80 %) *H. pylori* strains express Le^x and/or Le^y structures on their lipopolysaccharides.¹¹⁸

Adherence-associated lipoprotein A and B (AlpA and AlpB) have a function in adherence as mutations/deletions in *AlpA* or *AlpB* reduce binding to gastric sections.¹¹⁹ This binding is different from the BabA-dependent adherence.¹¹⁹

Prevalence and consequence of *H. pylori* infection

H. pylori infection is one of the most common bacterial infections in the world, colonizing approximately half the population.⁸² Colonization usually occurs before the age of ten,⁸² and once established within the gastric mucosa, the bacterium can persist for life, although transient infection occurs in a few individuals.⁸⁶ Person-to-person contact is believed to be the mode of transmission since prevalence is higher among institutionalized individuals, in family members of infected children, in families with many children and in developing countries.⁸² H. pylori infection is associated with gastric/duodenal ulcers and gastric cancer,⁸³ and the WHO has classified *H. pylori* as a class 1 carcinogen.⁸⁴ Out of the infected half of the population, 15% are estimated to develop symptoms and 3% gastric cancer.¹²⁰ Although *H. pylori* is the cause of both gastric cancer and duodenal ulcer, the development of these conditions appears to be mutually exclusive, and duodenal ulcer is considered a protection factor against gastric cancer.⁸² H. pylori infected individuals have a higher level of proinflammatory cytokines in the gastric mucosa compared to uninfected individuals.⁸², ^{121, 122} The intense humoral and cellular immune responses associated with gastric colonization are usually unable to eradicate *H. pylori* and may play a major role in the morbidity of the disease. H. pylori and inflammatory cells infiltrating the mucosa produce cytotoxic agents such as reactive oxygen metabolites, ammonia and cytotoxins, which all cause damage to DNA and epithelial cells. In addition, H. pylori may cause excessive cell replication, removal of the protective mucus layer (allowing toxic substances to come into direct contact with the epithelial cells),¹²³ and decrease the mismatch repair genes in epithelial cells,⁸² possibly contributing to carcinogenesis. Thus, gastric carcinomas may be caused by the converging effects of host inflammatory by-products causing mutational events in gastric epithelial cells and direct effects on gastric cells by H. pvlori.

Infection with *H. pylori* may have several outcomes

Infection with *H. pylori* may go unnoticed or lead to gastric/duodenal ulcer, lymphoma or carcinoma,¹²³ and since most infected individuals show no clinical symptoms, the pathological process must be influenced by host/environmental factors in addition to the genotype of the infecting strain. In the majority of infected individuals *H. pylori* infection is antrum predominant, and acid production by the largely unaffected corpus is enhanced leading to an increased risk of DU. In a minority (individuals with low acid output) infection is corpus predominant, and

infection is associated with progressive gastric atrophy, subsequent hypochlorhydria and an increased risk of gastric cancer.⁸⁶ The Mongolian gerbil, which is the only rodent to develop gastric cancer after *H. pylori* infection in the absence of additional carcinogens, has a 15 times lower gastric acid secretion than other rodents.⁸² Hypochlorhydria permits infection with other bacteria that may enhance the production of carcinogenic (*e.g. N*-nitroso) compounds.

The host secretor status in relation to gastric disease has been studied intensively. Although conflicting results on the relationship between secretor phenotype and *H. pylori* status or PUD have been reported,^{124, 125} the majority of studies have demonstrated that non-secretors (who are devoid of Le^b epitopes) have a higher risk of developing gastro-duodenal disease than secretors.¹²⁶⁻¹²⁹ However, the Le^b host phenotype *per se* does not seem to be associated with *H. pylori* infection,^{125, 127, 130} although Taiwanese patients who express Le^b have a higher *H. pylori* density than those who do not, and *H. pylori* density in such patients increases with Le^b expression.¹³¹

Stress is another factor that may work in conjunction with *H. pylori* or cause ulcers through alternative pathways. People exposed to disasters as well as prisoners of war have increased occurrence of ulcers, and wound healing is slower in stressed individuals.¹³² In addition, the prevalence of stress-associated gastric lesions is 52-100% of patients in intensive care units.¹³³

Histo-pathological consequences of *H. pylori* infection

In antrum and cardia, *H. pylori* can grow unimpeded by acid, which explains why the majority of the bacteria are found in these regions. In contrast, *H. helmanii* is, at least in the rhesus monkey, found in all regions of the stomach, often colonizing even the parietal cells.¹³⁴

H. pylori gastritis

During colonization, *H. pylori* penetrates the mucus layer and multiplies in close proximity to the surface epithelium causing acute neutrophilic *H. pylori* gastritis. The epithelium responds to infection by degenerative changes such as mucin depletion, cellular exfoliation and compensatory regenerative changes, hypochlorhydria, and production of cytokines such as IL-1 β , IL-8 as well as tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α).¹³⁵ In the acute phase, innate and natural immunity (neutrophils and macrophages/monocytes) rather than specific immune reactions dominate.¹³⁵ In the majority of individuals, there is a gradual accumulation of lymphocytes, plasma cells, B-cell proliferation and mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue, which turns the acute neutrophilic gastritis into an active chronic gastritis. The principal features of chronic gastritis comprise surface epithelial degradation, foveolar hyperplasia, hyperemia, lamina propria edema and atrophy.¹³ In some subjects, dysplasia and intestinal metaplasia may appear.¹³

Duodenitis

In chronic duodenitis there is an increase in chronic inflammatory cells in the lamina propria and gastric metaplasia frequently occurs.¹⁴ The degree of gastric metaplasia in the duodenum is closely associated with active chronic gastritis and the presence of *H. pylori* in the stomach.¹³⁶ The increased acid secretion, occurring in the majority of *H. pylori* infected stomachs, probably contributes to the increased duodenal acid load that may cause gastric metaplasia in the duodenum. In turn, gastric metaplasia allows *H. pylori* to prosper in this region.

Peptic ulcer disease

Peptic ulcer affects one in ten people and *H. pylori* infection, smoking, alcohol, stress as well as non-steroid anti-inflammatory drugs are important contributors to the development and perpetuation of the disease.¹³⁷ Gastric ulcers are usually preceded by corpus dominant or pan-gastritis, with *H. pylori* colonization of the corpus and low acid output.⁸² Duodenal ulcers are more common than gastric ulcers. Patients with duodenal ulcers have on average a greater capacity for acid secretion than healthy people. Ulcers heal when acid is neutralized, and *H. pylori* eradication helps healing and prevents recurrence of ulcers.^{136, 138}

Gastric neoplasia

Gastric cancer is the third most common cancer worldwide, and the second most common cause of cancer-related deaths.¹³⁹ Most gastric carcinomas appear in a background of chronic gastritis. The well differentiated (intestinal) type of carcinoma is preceded by inflammation, then multifocal atrophy and intestinal metaplasia, and this series of changes is generally initiated by *H. pylori*.¹⁴⁰ The association between *H. pylori* and cancer seems to be restricted to non-cardia gastric cancers, whereas cardia and esophageal adenocarcinoma are associated with reflux esophagitis.⁸³ Reflux esophagitis may be more rare in infected individuals due to the reduction in gastric acidity associated with the disease.⁸³ Calculating with an odds ratio of 5.9 (lower odds ratios have also been suggested¹³⁹), 65-80% of non-cardia gastric cancers may be attributed to *H. pylori* infection and thus potentially preventable.⁸³ Furthermore, *H. pylori* infection may cause B-cell lymphoma of the mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue, and 80% of the cases can be healed by eradication of the bacteria.^{141, 142} In the USA, malignant lymphoma constitutes 5% of gastric malignancies.⁸²

Models to investigate H. pylori-host interactions

Cancer cell-lines, organ cultures of gastric biopsies and whole animal models have been used to investigate *H. pylori*-host interactions. A large variability in response to this pathogen has been noted in different species, making the choice of model system a major consideration. Conflicting results have been obtained from cell-lines, and to date there are no gastric surface epithelial cell-lines available that maintain the normal cell polarity. The most commonly used laboratory animals such as rats and mice have drawbacks since *H. pylori* is mainly a primate-specific bacterium. The effects of *H. pylori* on the mouse are mild, and gastric cancer is not induced even after long-term exposure, although the mouse may develop chronic atrophic gastritis.^{143, 144} *H. pylori* can colonize the guinea-pig and the Mongolian gerbil and cause a severe inflammatory response.¹⁴⁵ These small animal models are useful to study some aspects of *H. pylori* infection, and have the advantage of being relatively cheap. In contrast, primates are very similar to humans, and rhesus monkeys naturally have persistent *H. pylori* indicide the advantage of being relatively cheap. In contrast, primates are very similar to humans, and rhesus monkeys naturally have persistent *H. pylori* indicide the advantage of being relatively cheap. In contrast, primates are very similar to humans, and rhesus monkeys naturally have persistent *H. pylori* indicide to loss of mucus, gastritis, gastric ulcers and even cancer.¹⁴⁶

¹⁴⁹ The rhesus monkey can be experimentally infected with *H. pylori*, and individuals differ in their susceptibility to particular bacterial strains.^{146, 147} Consequently, the rhesus monkey is affected by *H. pylori* in a similar way to man. In addition, the anatomy and physiology of the GI tract of the rhesus monkey, as well as the expression of blood group antigens such as A-B-O, M, Rh-Hr, Lewis and i, are very similar to that in human.¹⁵⁰ However, little is known about rhesus monkey gastric mucins and *H. pylori* adherence compared to human.

PRESENT INVESTIGATION

H. pylori binding to human gastric mucins (papers I & II)

The aim of this part of the investigation was to identify the mucins from the healthy human gastric mucosa to which *H. pylori* bind. Eight strains (including those with the Le^b/H -type-1-binding BabA adhesins, isogenic mutants of such strains lacking the adhesin, and sialyl- Le^x -binding SabA-positive strains) were used to identify microbebinding molecules from individuals with varying blood-group status, at a pH range from 1-7.4.

BabA positive strains bind to MUC5AC from Le^b-positive individuals and binding is inhibited by Le^b or H-type-1 conjugates

In Le^b-positive individuals, Le^b was present on the MUC5AC molecule. No association was found between *H. pylori* mucin binding and the H-type-2, Le^a, B and A blood-group antigens with any of the eight strains investigated. Strains with the SabA or AlpA adhesins demonstrated negligible binding to mucins from healthy tissue at neutral pH, indicating that SabA does not recognize sialic acid in this context, possibly because it is a different sialic acid-containing oligosaccharide structure than sialyl-Le^x. Consequently, the function of these adhesins is different from that of BabA, and *H. pylori* adherence to MUC5AC at neutral pH is affected both by host and microbe factors.

The BabA/Le^b-mediated receptor recognition of MUC5AC is strain and glycoform dependent

Binding with one of the Le^b-binding BabA positive strains (p466) to MUC5AC correlated well with the amount of Le^b as detected with the 2-25LE antibody. This Le^b antibody does not recognize the BLe^b structure, and reactivity of both this antibody and strain p466 with mucins from a B-positive individual was low compared to reactivity with an antibody (96FR2.10) recognizing the Le^b, BLe^b, ALe^b and H-type-1 structures and the second Le^b-binding BabA positive strain (CCUG17875) investigated. Thus, the BabA adhesin of strain p466 does not recognize the BLe^b structure as well as the Le^b structure, whereas the BabA adhesin of strain CCUG17875 does not discriminate between the two. Thus, the BabA adhesin(s) differ in their ability to recognize Le^b versus BLe^b.

Anion-exchange chromatography revealed three major MUC5AC glycoforms (Figure 7a, d and g) that differed in their microbe-binding properties. One of the Le^b-binding BabA positive strains (p466) bound to all three glycoforms in all Le^b-positive samples, whereas the other strain (CCUG17875) bound to all 3 glycoforms in one sample but only to the most charged one (glycoform 3) in the other samples (figure 7 c, f and i). Consequently, the Le^b structure appears to be a sufficient requirement for binding of strain p466, whereas the presence of this structure seems to be a necessary but not sufficient requirement for binding of strain differ in their ability to recognize MUC5AC glycoforms carrying the Le^b structure and preferential glycoform binding (with possible inter-individual

variations in glycoform expression in the population) adds yet another level of complexity to mucin-microbe interactions in addition to the highly diverse oligosaccharide substitution.



Figure 7. **Mucin glycoforms**. Mucin subunits were subjected to anion-exchange chromatography on a Mono Q HR5/5 column. Fractions were analyzed for MUC5AC (\blacklozenge) and Le^b (2-25LE) (\bigtriangledown) (panel a, d and g) Alcian blue staining at pH 2.5 (\blacktriangle) and pH 1.0 (\triangle) (panel b, e and h) and binding with strains CCUG17875 (O) and p466 (\bullet) (panel c, f and i).

At neutral pH, BabA positive *H. pylori* strains bind to a mucin-like molecule of smaller size than MUC5AC

In individuals expressing the Le^b structure, Le^b-binding strains bound to a component of 'typical' mucin density but of smaller size than MUC5AC. An antibody against MUC1 reacted with part of this low-molecular-mass material. However, the rest of the population may also be MUC1 since it is well known that antibodies against the MUC1 ectodomain are sensitive to glycosylation that may shield the epitopes, and possibly only a MUC1 subpopulation with a 'low' degree of glycosylation is recognized. This material reacted with an antibody (clone 96FR 2) that recognizes the H-type-1 structure in addition to Le^b, but not with the Le^b antibody, suggesting that the H-type-1 structure is present. Binding was inhibited by Le^b and H-type-1 HSA conjugates, with a higher concentration of H-type-1 than Le^b needed for the same level of inhibition. Thus, BabA positive *H. pylori* strains bind both H-type-1 on the putative membrane-bound MUC1 mucin and Le^b on secreted MUC5AC in the mucus layer. MUC5AC may thus function as an effective decoy for MUC1 since the BabA adhesin has a higher affinity for Le^b than for H-type-1 and MUC5AC is present in much larger amounts.

At acidic pH, *H. pylori* binding occurred to the most charged MUC5AC glycoform, a putative 'novel' monomeric mucin, a proteoglycan-like molecule and DNA

The glycoforms mentioned above may be described as neutral mucins (glycoform 1), sialomucins (glycoform 2) and a mixture of sialo- and sulfo- mucins (glycoform 3), with the sulfated species within glycoform 3 having a slightly higher charge than the sialylated ones (figure 7 b, e and h). In Le^b-negative samples, no binding was detected to glycoforms 1 and 2, whereas binding to glycoform 3 had a maximum at pH 3-4 for all strains. In the Le^b-positive samples, binding was similar for the non-Le^b-binding strains, whereas binding of the Le^b-binding strains to glycoforms 1 and 2 increased with pH, and binding to glycoform 3 was most pronounced at pH 3-5.

At pH 3, binding occurred to a putative 'novel' monomeric mucin, of higher density, charge and size than MUC5AC subunits. This component had a slightly higher density than MUC5AC and MUC6 in a CsCl density-gradient and was fragmented into a larger and a smaller unit after reduction. The larger unit has a greater hydrodynamic volume than the subunits of MUC5AC and MUC6 and is thus likely to be glycosylated whereas the smaller one may represent a cleavage fragment attached via disulfide bonds. The charge density of this 'high-density' component, as determined by anion-exchange chromatography, is slightly higher than the main population of glycoform 3, and corresponds to the sulfated sub-population of this glycoform. The component is present in very small amounts relative to MUC5AC and MUC6 as expected for a membrane-bound mucin present as a single molecular layer at the luminal plasma membrane in comparison with the secreted mucins that occur as both as a thick mucus gel and as highly condensed secretory granules.

At pH 3, all strains bound to DNA and to a component that could be degraded by chondroitinase ABC lyase (a putative proteoglycan) and this binding did not occur at pH 7.4. Binding to the latter component was stronger at pH 3, whereas binding to DNA was more pronounced at pH 5.

At acidic pH, no difference was detected in *H. pylori* binding to mucins, to the putative proteoglycan or to DNA between the strains investigated, including strains carrying/lacking the AlpA, SabA and BabA adhesins. This indicates that these particular adhesins are not responsible for binding at low pH. Furthermore, no differences in binding were detected between mucins carrying different blood-group structures. Consequently, the binding properties at acidic pH seem to be independent of host histo-blood group type as well as the genotype of the *H. pylori* strain.

The rhesus monkey as a model for *H. pylori*-host interactions (paper III)

The aim of this part of the investigation was to study the structure, tissue localization, histo-blood-group expression and *H. pylori* binding properties of gastric mucins from the rhesus monkey in order to evaluate whether this species is a suitable model for studies on *H. pylori*-mucin interactions.

The rhesus monkey produces mucins orthologues to human MUC5AC and MUC6 that have similar density, size, glycoforms, oligomeric structure and tissue localization to these mucins

After isopycnic density-gradient centrifugation, muc5ac and muc6 were found as a peak at 1.4 g/ml, and gel chromatography on both reduced and intact mucins revealed that muc5ac and muc6 from rhesus monkey are large oligomeric structures held together by disulfide bonds. Anion-exchange chromatography separated muc5ac and muc6 into three glycoforms, which were either not retained by the column (glycoform 1), eluted at the beginning of the gradient (glycoform 2) or more retained (glycoform 3). Sulfate was only found in glycoform 3 and the sulfated species had a slightly higher charge than the main population of this glycoform. Sialic acid was mainly found in glycoforms 2 and 3. In tissue sections, muc5ac localized to the surface/foveolar mucous cells and muc6 to the glands in antrum and cardia, whereas in corpus, muc5ac was found in the surface/foveolar epithelium and muc6 was present in mucous cells and intraluminal mucus in the neck region. In duodenum, the Brunner's glands were positive for muc6 and the goblet cells for muc2.

Rhesus monkey mucins are substituted with human-type histo blood-group antigens, and these structures have a similar expression pattern as in humans

The B, Le^b, Le^a, Le^x, Le^y, H-type-2, sialyl-Le^x, sialyl-Le^a, Tn and T antigens were detected on rhesus monkey gastric mucins. All Le^b-positive monkeys were also positive for Le^a, and these structures mainly localized to the surface mucous cells, although Le^b was also found in 10-70% of the antral glands. When present, sialyl-Le^a was located to the surface/foveolar epithelium, whereas no sulfo-Le^a was detected in any of the gastric specimens. Le^y was found in the glands of all monkeys both in

antrum and corpus, but rarely in the foveolar epithelium. Antibodies against Le^x and/or sialyl-Le^x stained the antral glands in the majority of monkeys, and in a few individuals also the foveolar epithelium. Thus, the Le-type-1 and Le-type-2 structures are mainly detected in the surface and glands respectively. The relative amount of the carbohydrate structures varies between individuals.

H. pylori binds rhesus monkey gastric mucins via at least 3 different mechanisms; to host Le^b and related structures via BabA, to host sialyl-Le^x via SabA and to sialylated host structures at low pH

At neutral pH, *H. pylori* strains expressing the BabA adhesin bind rhesus monkey gastric mucins via the Le^b or H-type-1 structures on muc5ac and on a putative small monomeric mucin. The BabA-positive *H. pylori* strain bound to all 3 glycoforms, but mainly to glycoforms 2 and 3. Statistical correlation parameters between binding of antibodies/lectins and *H. pylori* strains calculated for the anion-exchange chromatog-raphy fractions showed that the correlations between reactivity of the BabA positive strain CCUG17875 at pH 7.4 and Le^b or the antibody recognizing the Le^b, BLe^b, ALe^b and H-type-1 structures were significantly stronger (p =0.001) than to sialyl-Le^x, Peanut agglutinin (PNA, recognizing Galβ1,3GalNAc), or *Maakia amurensis* II lectin (MAL, recognizing NeuAca2,3Galβ1,4GlcNAc) reactivity. This binding occurred to muc5ac rather than to muc6 (p =0.001). Gel chromatography of material with 'typical' mucin density revealed an additional smaller apparently monomeric mucin (insensitive to reduction) that BabA positive strains also bound to. Binding to both muc5ac and this putative small mucin was inhibited by Le^b and H-type-1 conjugates.

At neutral pH, the SabA-positive *H. pylori* strain bound to sialyl-Le^x positive mucins, although seemingly with less efficiency than the BabA dependent interaction described above. Binding with the SabA-positive, BabA-negative, mutant (*babA1A2*) coincided with sialyl-Le^x but not with sialyl-Le^a, and this binding was approximately 25% of that of the BabA-positive ones. Removal of the sialic acid moieties with neuraminidase completely abolished binding. Binding with the SabA-positive mutant was mainly detected to glycoforms 2 and 3, and the correlation of adhesion with sialyl-Le^x was significantly stronger (p <0.001) than to Le^b, H-type-1, MAL, PNA or 'carbohydrate' (periodate-oxidizable structures).

At acidic pH, *H. pylori* binds mucins carrying sialylated structures such as sialyl-Le^x and sialyl-core-type-2. *H. pylori* bound to glycoform 2, to a component reacting with the *Maakia amurensis* lectin eluting between glycoforms 2 and 3 and to glycoform 3. Binding was inhibited by DNA and dextran sulfate, and neuraminidase treatment abolished most of the binding. Binding did not occur to the sulfated subpopulation of glycoform 3, indicating that charge is not the only requirement for adhesion. The statistical correlation of binding at acidic pH was similar to sialyl-Le^x and to MAL reactivity, and did not differ significantly. The correlations between binding with the SabA positive mutant at pH 7.4 and the SabA positive mutant at pH 3 are significantly different, suggesting that these constitute different mechanisms of binding.

Effects of *H. pylori* infection on host mucins (paper IV)

The aim of this part of the investigation was to determine the effects of *H. pylori* inoculation on gastric mucin apoprotein tissue localization, glycosylation and *H. pylori* adherence.

The tissue localization of the mucus-forming mucins remained unchanged during the 10-month observation period

muc5ac was located to the surface/foveolar epithelium of antrum and corpus, and muc6 to the antral glands and corpus mucous cells as well as secreted mucus in the neck region. muc2 and sulfo-mucins were not found in mucin-producing cells in the stomach in any of the monkeys.

Glycosylation changes occurred in all infected animals

Expression of sialylated Lewis antigens in the surface/foveolar epithelium was increased one week after infection, and was strongest before four months. The percentage of the sialyl-Le^a positive surface/foveolar epithelium markedly increased in all nine infected monkeys and the mean percentage of sialyl-Le^a positive cells in the persistently infected animals increased significantly. In seven of the nine infected monkeys, the levels decreased late during infection. The percentage of sialyl-Le^x positive surface/foveolar epithelium increased during the first week in persistently infected monkeys, and returned to pre-inoculation levels after 4-10 months in most animals. However, this increase did not reach a level of statistical significance (p =0.053) due to the large inter-individual variability. Interestingly, sialyl-Le^x levels remained unchanged in the monkey that spontaneously cleared the infection. A significant correlation was found between sialyl-Le^x and sialyl-Le^a in antral surface/foveolar epithelium, and *H. pylori* density and gastritis score significantly correlated with sialyl-Le^x (p <0.001 vs p =0.014) and sialyl-Le^a (p <0.001 for both) expression.

Le^a and/or Le^b expression transiently decreased in 5 out of 7 Le^b-positive animals one week after infection, but later increased. In addition, an initial decrease in fucosylation affecting structures other than Le^a/Le^b also seemed to occur since *in vitro* adherence with the *H. pylori* strain CCUG17875, which binds to fucosylated antigens such as Le^b and H-type-1, decreased in 7/8 infected monkeys, including the Le^b negative ones (see below). Two months after inoculation, the stain intensity had returned to pre-inoculation or higher levels. Le^a and/or Le^b expression also increased in all Le^a/Le^b-negative monkeys later during infection, and in some animals this increase tended to be strongest apically.

In vitro adherence of BabA- and SabA-positive *H. pylori* strains reflects the glycosylation changes

In vitro adherence of the BabA-positive Le^b -binding strain CCUG17875 significantly (p =0.028) decreased one week after inoculation. *In vitro* adherence to the mucosa of the transiently infected monkey initially decreased as in the persistently infected animals, but later increased as in the non-infected one with the increase preceding the

clearance of infection. No *in vitro* adherence was detected to the antral glands in any of the monkeys, although Le^b was detected in the glands of most animals, validating that the presentation of this structure is important for binding as shown in paper I. In Le^b-positive monkeys, *in vitro* adherence to the antral surface/foveolar epithelium was slightly higher before inoculation (mean 18 % vs 15%) and significantly higher after inoculation (1.8 times, p =0.007) than in Le^b-negative animals. However, adherence occurred in all individuals, indicating that structures other than Le^b (*e.g.* H-type-1) also mediate binding. *In vivo H. pylori* density, gastritis score and sialyl-Le^x levels significantly inversely correlated with *in vitro* adherence of Le^b-binding strain.

In vitro adherence with the SabA positive sialyl-Le^x binding *babA1A2* mutant to antral surface/foveolar epithelium significantly (p = 0.015) increased in persistently infected monkeys and correlated with the levels of sialyl-Le^x (p < 0.001) and sialyl-Le^a (p < 0.001). *In vivo H. pylori* density and gastritis score significantly correlated with *in vitro* adherence of the SabA-positive strain. *In vitro* adherence of BabA- and SabA-positive strains progressed in opposite directions during infection (Figure 8), and adherence with these two strains inversely correlated (p = 0.020). No *in vitro* adherence with the AlpA-positive strain p1.



Figure 8. *In vitro* adherence of BabA- (\bullet) and SabA-positive (\Box) strains progressed in opposite directions during infection.

The Le^b -positive monkeys were less affected by *H. pylori* than the Le^b -negative ones

After *H. pylori* inoculation, 8 of 10 rhesus monkeys developed persistent infection, with gastritis score increasing with *H. pylori* density score. However, the corpus gastritis score, the antrum *H. pylori* score and the corpus *H. pylori* score were approximately twice as high in Le^b-negative as in Le^b-positive persistently infected animals. In addition, the two monkeys that did not develop persistent infection were both Le^b-positive. Thus, although the number of individuals is too small to draw any general conclusions, both *H. pylori* density (figure 9) and gastritis score of Le^b-positive monkeys were lower than in the Le^b-negative animals. This suggests that attachment of *H. pylori* to Le^b-positive gastric mucin may protect against *H. pylori* infection by *e.g.* inhibiting attachment of the organism to underlying epithelial cells.



Mean H. pylori score

Figure 9. The mean *H. pylori* score was approximately twice as high in persistently infected Le^b-negative (O) as Le^b-positive (\bullet) animals. The error bars represent standard error of the mean.

DISCUSSION

H. pylori binding to human gastric mucins

Of the two major secreted gastric mucins MUC5AC and MUC6, binding via the Le^bbinding BabA adhesin occurred to MUC5AC. Although no experiments were performed to formally prove that H. pylori does not bind to MUC6, no observations were made suggesting that this is actually the case. In fact, binding correlated better with MUC5AC than with MUC6, both using biochemical binding assays (papers I & III) and in vitro adherence tests (paper IV). Mucin genes are polymorphic and the Olinked oligosaccharides are structurally highly diverse. Furthermore, gastric MUC5AC glycoforms differ in their ability to bind to H. pylori and the different strains differ in *their* mucin binding properties (paper I & II). The structure (Le^b) mediating adherence at neutral pH was present in all three glycoforms, suggesting that bacterial adhesins are influenced by the context in which their target structure appears, for example, by adjacent structures conferring steric constraints or charge repulsion. In contrast, binding to the putative membrane-bound MUC1 mucin seemed equal both in samples where MUC5AC binding was glycoform dependent and independent (paper II). Possibly, the microbes have developed mechanisms by which binding to the secreted mucins can be decreased while binding to the membrane-bound ones is retained in order to diminish the fraction of bacteria trapped in mucus that is removed from the stomach with gastric emptying.

Binding via the Le^b-binding BabA adhesin occurs at neutral pH and decreases with pH (paper II), which may allow the microbes to adhere at neutral pH and detach when the mucus gel is released into the acidic gastric juice. In principle, this would allow the bacteria to swim back into the mucus layer that has a pH compatible with survival. However, there are mechanisms that may prevent this from happening. For example, other large components could adhere to H. pylori in the gastric lumen. H. pylori binding to charged molecules at acidic pH seems to be a feature that is common to all strains studied (paper II). Although gastric mucins from healthy individuals are predominantly neutral, a portion belongs to the highly charged glycoform 3 (paper I & II). Furthermore, sialylated Le antigens increase after *H. pylori* infection (paper IV) and a decrease in the gastric juice acidic mucin content after eradication of H. pylori has previously been described.¹⁵¹ Also in the rhesus monkeys infected with H. *heilmannii*, there was a tendency towards higher levels of sialyl-Le^x in the antral glands in *H. heilmannii* positive animals (paper III). Gastric mucins from pig ¹⁵² and rat¹⁵³ have also been shown to carry negative charges, suggesting that the proportion of acidic mucins in the human stomach is lower compared to other mammals. The human stomach is most likely less challenged by bacteria in the food than in other species and possibly, production of acidic mucins induced by bacterial challenge provides *one* mechanism to remove bacteria. Adherence to acidic mucins at low pH in the lumen might prevent the microbes from 'burrowing' into the mucus layer and thus retain them in an environment incompatible with survival. Consequently, the microbes would be removed with the gastric contents and the number of H. pylori in the stomach lowered.

Rhesus monkey gastric mucins are very similar to the cognate human ones

Expression and tissue localization of mucins and Lewis antigens, as well as mucin structure, density, glycoforms and *H. pylori* binding properties are similar in rhesus monkey and man (paper III). These observations indicate that the rhesus monkey is a good model for investigations concerning the role of gastric mucins in *H. pylori* colonization and persistence, and that results from studies in this species are likely to be relevant to human disease. Most animal models used for investigating *H. pylori* infection are different from humans regarding gastric anatomy, physiology and inflammatory responses, and contrasting results have emerged from studies using cell-lines. The physiology of the gastrointestinal tract of rhesus monkey resembles that of human, and the gastric mucins of the two species are very similar, suggesting that this animal model closely reflects *H. pylori* infection in man.



Figure 10. Binding to secreted mucins may protect against *H. pylori* by inhibiting attachment to the membrane-bound mucins or other structures on the underlying epithelial cells. Competition between *H. pylori* binding to membrane-associated and secreted mucins is likely to influence the outcome of the host-microbe interaction, since the membrane associated mucins have been shown to participate in signaling events.¹⁵⁴

Competition between binding to membrane-associated mucins and secreted ones In both man and monkey, adhesion occurred to a small apparently monomeric

component of mucin density (paper II & III). In the human mucin preparations this component appeared, at least in part, to be MUC1 (paper II), and after infection fuco-sylation seemed to increase apically in some monkeys (paper IV). Other investigators have shown that the role of MUC1 could be dynamic in *H. pylori* infection since

reactivity with an antibody against the MUC1 exodomain is lost, indicating that the exodomain is either cleaved off or subjected to glycosylation changes.³⁸ In the non-infected stomach, the Le^b binding BabA positive strains bind both to Le^b on the secreted MUC5AC mucin and to H-type-1 on this putative membrane-associated MUC1 mucin (paper II). After infection, when fucosylation changes and Le^b seems to increase apically on the foveolar cells (paper IV), it is likely that this proportion is changed. MUC5AC may function as an effective decoy for *H. pylori*-MUC1 binding, as emphasized by the fact that BabA has a higher affinity for Le^b than for H-type-1 and that the MUC5AC mucin is present in much larger amounts than MUC1. Competition between *H. pylori* binding to membrane-bound and secreted mucins is likely to influence the outcome of the host-microbe interaction since membrane-bound mucins have the capacity for trans-membrane signaling (figure 10). Thus, the mucosal barrier, composed by the membrane-bound and secreted mucins is dynamic and responsive.

Glycosylation changes after infection

Although Le^a and Le^b expression initially decreased in the Le^b-positive animals after inoculation, there was a tendency to an increase later during infection (paper IV). In addition, in all three monkeys that were Le^b and Le^a negative before inoculation, Le^b and/or Le^a were detected after inoculation (paper IV). A similar effect is induced by some commensal bacteria (e.g. B. Thetaiotaomicron) that can signal to the host to produce more fucose on their glycans for the bacterium to use as nutrients.^{77, 155} The increase in sialyl-Le^a and sialyl-Le^x expression in the surface/foveolar epithelium is most prominent during the first 2 months after inoculation (paper IV). Changes in levels of sialyl-Le^a before and after eradication have been reported, but to a lesser degree and only in 50% of specimens.⁶² This could be explained by our finding that the change is time-dependent. Over-expression of sialyl-Le^a and sialyl-Le^x may correspond to 1) an increased expression of an $\alpha 2,3$ -sialyl-transferase, competing with the fucosyltransferase for the same substrate, the terminal GalB1-3GlcNAc and GalB1-4GlcNAc chains (type 1 and 2 chains) and 2) an increased expression of α 1,3- and α 1,4-fucosyltransferase activity. The pro-inflammatory cytokine TNF (which is increased in *H. pylori* infection) increases the alpha 1,3-fucosyltransferase activity in cultured endothelial cells,¹⁵⁶ indicating that this could be a general response to inflammation. However, in our study correlations with sialyl-Le^a have a strong withinanimal-correlation (R_w) and correlations with sialyl-Le^x a stronger between-animalcorrelation (R_h) (paper IV). Thus, sialvlation of Le^a and Le^x occurs as separate entities and is therefore not likely to be induced by the same mechanism, possibly because expression of sialyl-Le^x requires induction of the H-type-2 structure in the surface/foveolar epithelium. Glycosylation changes occur during infection/inflammation in the rat small intestine during infection of the parasite Nippostrongylus brasiliensis.¹⁵⁷ In individuals with cystic fibrosis (CF) or chronic bronchitis an increase in sialylation and sulfation of airway mucins is found, and respiratory mucins from CF patients have a higher affinity for Pseudomonas aeruginosa than most mucins from non-CF subjects.⁶¹ During *H. pylori* infection in rhesus monkeys, glycosylation changes that differ between individuals and affect *H. pylori* adhesion targets occur (paper IV). Possibly, it is advantageous for the host that pathogen binding varies between individuals since a certain pathogen would be unable to colonize an entire population. The personal repertoire of TR, glycosyl transferases, mucin glycoforms, and insult response is likely to affect individual susceptibility to different pathogens.

The host Le^b status influences *H. pylori*-host interactions

H. pylori density and gastritis score were lower in Le^b-positive than Le^b negative animals (paper IV). In addition, the animal that did not develop infection and the one that spontaneously cleared the infection were both Le^b-positive (paper IV). Although the number of individuals is too small to draw general conclusions, the Le^b-positive animals in our study were less affected by the *H. pylori* infection than the Le^bnegative ones. The observations that absence of Le^b is significantly associated with gastritis, and *H. pylori* density is significantly higher (p =0.045) in Le^b negative children than in Le^b-positive ones support this notion (Sara Lindén, James Rick and André Dubois, unpublished observations). Most previous studies have found that nonsecretors, who are devoid of the Le^b epitope, have a higher risk of developing gastro-duodenal disease than secretors.¹²⁶⁻¹²⁹ However, the Le^b host phenotype is not associated with H. pylori infection, although H. pylori infected patients in Taiwan who express Le^b have a higher *H. pylori* density than those who do not, and *H. pylori* density increases with Le^b expression.^{127, 130, 131} These seemingly contradictory results may be explained by our results that Le^b expression increases both in Le^b-positive and Le^b-negative monkeys later during infection (paper IV), since studies in humans do not account for *H. pylori* induced changes. Furthermore, *H. pylori in vitro* adherence to foveolar epithelium with the Le^b binding strain was higher in Le^b-positive monkeys than in Le^b-negative ones, whereas *in vitro* adherence of the sialyl-Le^x binding strain was higher in Le^b negative monkeys (paper IV). Thus, the receptors for both the BabA and SabA adhesins indeed differ between Le^b-positive and negative individuals.

The fact that *H. pylori* infection can modify host glycosylation within mucus producing cells without modifying mucin expression or tissue localization implies that the change is not due to the expression of a 'new' component but to an altered glycosylation of MUC5AC. Bacterial challenge of mucosal surfaces triggers transient changes in host glycosylation within mucus producing cells, and this rapid response influences the structure of putative colonization targets. In turn, these structural changes of demonstrated colonization targets probably result in bacterial adaptation and selection of the strains that are best adapted to a particular host. These host-bacterial interactions may determine the outcome of the infection, *i.e.* persistence or transience, and perhaps whether or not disease develops.

OVERALL CONCLUSIONS

- *H. pylori* binding to gastric mucins at neutral pH is dependent on *H. pylori* strain and host blood-group expression. In contrast, all *H. pylori* strains investigated have similar binding properties at acidic pH.
- Binding to secreted mucins and putative membrane-bound ones occurs both at neutral and acidic pH.
- The BabA adhesins differ in their ability to recognize MUC5AC glycoforms carrying the Le^b structure.
- Expression and tissue localization of mucins and Lewis antigens as well as mucin structure, density, glycoforms and *H. pylori* binding properties are similar in rhesus monkey and man.
- The host responds rapidly to bacterial challenge by changing the expression of carbohydrate structures used by the microbe for adhesion. Microbe challenge of mucosal surfaces may thus trigger changes in host glycosyl transferase expression that influence the structure of putative colonization targets.

FUTURE OUTLOOK

In my studies, I have found that *H. pylori* binds to secreted mucins and putative membrane-bound ones both at neutral and acidic pH, although via different mechanisms. Since competition between binding to secreted mucins and membrane-bound ones with signaling potential is likely to influence the outcome of the host-microbe interaction, it is important to elucidate the roles of these structures relative to each other during colonization, and to find out what the consequences of binding to the membrane-bound mucins are, if any. Furthermore, glycosylation of the gastric mucosa was altered after infection, and some changes seemed to occur apically. Such glycosylation changes are likely to influence the competition between binding to secreted mucins and the membrane-bound ones. Consequently it is essential to investigate on what structures/mucins the glycosylation changes occur, and how the changes influence *H. pylori* adhesion to these structures.

After the discovery of *H. pylori* 15 years ago, the focus of research on gastric ulcers moved from stress to this bacterium. However, only a subset of infected individuals develops symptoms, and often decades after infection indicating that environmental factors are important for the pathological process. A reduction in acidic gastric mucin biosynthesis has been observed in stressed rats,¹⁵⁸ and the amount of acidic mucins in the gastric juice is suppressed for at least three days in irradiated rhesus monkeys.¹⁵⁹ Since ionizing radiation produces free-radicals and oxidative damage has been implicated the development of stress ulcers,¹⁶⁰ the production of acidic mucins may be decreased in periods of stress in primates too. Thus, the putative elimination of *H. pylori* through binding to acidic mucins may decrease during periods of stress, which would lead to an increase in *H. pylori* bacterial load, and in turn could be a contributing factor for the correlation of stress and gastritis/gastric ulceration. Thus, it is time to bring back the stress aspect and investigate the converging effects of *H. pylori* and stress.

POPULARIZED SUMMARY IN SWEDISH

Magsårsbakterien H. pylori binder till och förändrar magens slemhinna

Bakterierna är i majoritet i kroppen!

Människans 10 biljoner celler lever i harmoni med 100 biljoner bakterier som har koloniserat någon av kroppens ekologiska nischer utan att göra skada. Av alla bakterier kroppen möter utgör bara en bråkdel något hot, och trots att kroppen möter sjukdomsalstrande bakterier flera gånger om dagen är det sällan man blir sjuk. Kroppens yta täcks på utsidan av huden (ca 2 m²) och på insidan av slemhinnorna som tillsammans har en betydligt större yta (ca 400 m²) eftersom de är veckade. Infektion påbörjas när en av dessa ytor blir koloniserad av bakterier. Kroppens yta skyddas av cellavstötning och en vänlig bakterieflora. Slemhinnorna är mer lättgenomträngliga än huden eftersom de även har funktioner som utsöndring av magsyra och enzymer som bryter ned födan samt upptag av näringsämnen från födan. Därför skyddas de dessutom av ett slemlager som hela tiden förnyas och på så sätt "tvättar bort" oönskade gäster. Även om alla människor har detta skydd finns det stora skillnader mellan individer på hur infektionskänsliga de är.



Magsårsbakterien Helicobacter pylori

H. pylori (Bild t.v. tryckt med tillstånd från Ärztliche Praxis) orsakar en av världens vanligaste bakterieinfektioner och omkring 50% av världens befolkning beräknas vara infekterad. Bakterien orsakar kronisk inflammation i magslemhinnan, som kan övergå i magsår och cancer, och en *H. pylori*-infekterad individ beräknas ha ca 6 gånger så stor risk att utveckla magcancer som oinfekterade individer. 60-80% av magcancerfallen beräknas kunna förhindras, men man vet ännu inte vilka *H. pylori*-infekterade patienter man ska behandla eftersom endast 15% av infekterade individer visar symptom och 3% beräknas utveckla

cancer. Ett problem i behandlingen av *H. pylori* är att den lätt blir resistent mot antibiotika, vilket gör att bakterien ofta återkommer efter behandling. Eftersom magen har som funktion att bryta ned födan (med hjälp av syra och nedbrytande enzymer) är den en relativt ogästvänlig miljö, och *Helicobacter* är hittills den enda kända bakterie som kan kolonisera en frisk mage. Till sin hjälp har de svansliknande rörelseorgan som de kan simma med och ett enzym som lokalt och tillfälligt kan neutralisera magsyran. Dessutom har *H. pylori* ett flertal strukturer på sin yta, så kallade adhesiner, som den använder för att binda till värdstrukturer. Med hjälp av adhesinerna kan bakterien "låsa sig fast" i specifika strukturer på samma sätt som en rymdfärja dockar till en rymdstation. De mest välkarakteriserade adhesinerna är BabA (Blood-group binding adhesin) och SabA (sialic acid binding adhesin) vilka binder till kolhydratstrukturerna Le^b respektive sialyl-Le^x/sialyl-Le^a. Olika stammar/isolat av *H. pylori* bär på olika adhesiner.

Utsidan av insidan - magen skyddas av slem

Magsäckens insida är egentligen kroppens utsida eftersom material i detta utrymme, det vill säga maten, inte kommer in i själva kroppen utan transporteras igenom den som i en kanal. Magens slemhinna är täckt av ett slemlager, uppbyggt av stora glvkoproteiner (muciner), som skyddar den underliggande vävnaden från magsyra och nedbrytande enzymer. I magen byggs detta slemlager upp av mucinerna MUC5AC och MUC6. Mucinernas struktur kan liknas vid en flaskborste där proteinkedian är skaftet och kolhydratkedjorna borsten. Längst ut på "borsten" sitter kolhydratstrukturer som Le^b, sialyl-Le^x och sialyl-Le^a. De slembildande mucinerna består av flera sådana enheter som sitter ihop i långa trådliknande strukturer. Ytan på de celler som ligger under detta skyddande slemlager är dessutom täckt av en tät skog av kolhydratkedjor. Som en del av denna skog finns också cellbundna muciner som kan liknas vid en flaskborste som sitter fast i cellytan med skaftet (Se bild nedan). De är högre än andra cellbundna strukturer och sticker upp som höga träd ur lågväxande buskage. De kan dessutom signallera till insidan av cellen och kan därför överföra information från utsidan till insidan av kroppen. Det vanligaste cellbundna mucinet i magen är MUC1. Vid infektion återfinns majoriteten av *H. pvlori* i slemlagret närmast slemhinnans yttersta cellager - epitelcellagret. Hur bakterien interagerar med slemlagret och epitelcellerna samt hur den kroniska infektionen uppkommer är ofullständigt känt.

Mitt forskningsprojekt handlar om vilka molekyler *H. pylori* binder till, via vilka strukturer detta sker, samt hur *H. pylori* påverkar magslemhinnan efter infektion. Fokus ligger på mucinerna och sockerstrukturer på dessa.

Fungerar de utsöndrade mucinerna som lockbete?

H. pylori med BabA adhesinet binder till en kolhydratstruktur som kallas Le^b på det slembildande mucinet MUC5AC och till H-typ-1 sockerstrukturen på det membranbundna mucinet MUC1. Det finns mycket mer MUC5AC än MUC1 eftersom MUC5AC, tillsammans med MUC6, ligger som ett tjockt lager över slemhinnan (Bild nedan). Konkurrens mellan interaktioner till utsöndrade muciner i mukuslagret och membranbundna muciner med signaleringsmöjlighet påverkar sannolikt infektionsförloppet. Om *H. pylori* fastnar i slemlagret kan den oskadliggöras genom att transporteras ut ur magen tillsammans med resten av maginnehållet (maten).

H. pyloris bindning till muciner beror på hur surt det är i magen

H. pyloris förmåga att binda till muciner visades vara beroende av pH, det vill säga hur surt det är. Vid neutralt pH, som det är närmast slemhinnans cellyta, band *H. pylori*-stammar med BabA adhesinet till MUC5AC och MUC1 som ovan nämnt. Vid surt pH, dvs längre ut från cellytan i slemlagret, försvann denna bindning. Teoretiskt skulle detta innebära att bakterierna då kunde släppa taget till mucinerna som kommit ut i magsäcken och är på väg ut ur magen, och simma tillbaks in i slemlagret med mer neutralt pH. I verkligheten är det inte så enkelt eftersom andra mekanismer troligen motverkar detta, till exempel tar andra bindningsmekanismer över vid surt pH.



Magens yta skyddas av ett slemlager uppbyggt av muciner. Ute i magsäcken är pH surt, men i mukuslagret blir det gradvis mindre surt, och vid cellytan är pH neutralt. Vid infektion återfinns majoriteten av *H. pylori* i slemlagret närmast epitelcellagret, och bakterien binder både till cellbundna och utsöndrade muciner.

Ny bindningsmekanism upptäcktes!

Vid surt pH visar alla undersökta stammar liknande bindningsegenskaper, oavsett vilka adhesiner de har (BabA, SabA eller adhesion associated liporotein eller inget av dessa), och binder både till den andel av slembildande MUC5AC som har laddade kolhydratstrukturer och till en stor hittills oidentifierad komponent med laddade kolhydratstrukturer och som skulle kunna vara ett "nytt" mucin.

Kolhydratstrukturerna som *H. pylori* binder till i magen förändras efter infektion

För att undersöka hur *H. pylori*-infektion påverkar magslemhinnan valdes rhesusapan som modell eftersom *H. pylori* makroskopiskt påverkar apan på samma sätt som människan. Rhesusapans muciner, kolhydratstrukturer samt interaktioner med *H. pylori* fanns dessutom vara mycket lika människans. Vävnadsprover som regelbundet tagits, före och under tio månader efter *H. pylori* infektion undersöktes. Vilka slembildande muciner som återfanns i magen förändrades inte under denna tidsperiod, däremot ändrades kolhydratstrukturerna på mucinerna. Förändringarna inkluderade en temporär minskning av Le^b och en ökning av sialyl-Le^a och sialyl-Le^x. Detta påverkar bakteriens interaktion med magslemhinnan då bakterien kan binda samtliga av dessa tre sockerstrukturer (Le^b är den struktur BabA binder till och sialyl-Le^a och sialyl-Le^x

de strukturer SabA binder till). Dessa glykosyleringsförändringar speglades även av att bindning med bakterier som bär på dessa adhesiner förändrades: bindning av BabA-positiva *H. pylori* minskade och SabA-positiva ökade som förväntat. Dessa resultat visar att *H. pylori*-infektionen förändrar värden på ett sätt som påverkar bakteriens förmåga att binda till magens yta.

Magens försvar

Ute i magsäcken råder en sur miljö, i mukuslagret blir det gradvis mindre surt och vid cellytan är pH neutralt. *H. pylori* har visserligen ett enzym som tillfälligt kan neutralisera syran i bakteriens närmiljö, men de kan bara motstå syra i ungefär en halvtimme. Därför skulle mekanismer som hindrar bakterien från att simma in till cellytan där det är neutralt pH kunna fungera som ett skydd mot *H. pylori*. Om de skulle fastna i något stort ute i lumen av magsäcken skulle de antingen dö av syran eller transporteras ut i tarmen med maten. Muciner från *Helicobacter*-infekterade apor har mer laddade strukturer, och binder mer *H. pylori* än muciner från friska individer, och efter infektion ökar mängden laddade kolhydratstrukturer (sialyl-Le^a och sialyl-Le^x) på mucinerna. Detta skulle kunna innebära att magen i försvar mot *H. pylori* producerar stora laddade molekyler som binder till bakterien ute i lumen av magsäcken och hindrar *H. pylori* från att simma in till cellytan där pH är förenligt med överlevnad. Mucinerna skyddar troligen magytans celler från bakterierna genom att de fångas i gelen och kan transporteras ut ur magen.

Kan den här forskningen leda till nya behandlingsformer?

Vid neutralt pH, binder *H. pylori* stammar som bär på BabA adhesinet till humant MUC5AC via kolhydratsstrukturen Le^b, och stammar med BabA adhesinet visar olika specificitet för MUC5AC med olika laddning på sina kolhydratstrukturer. Därigenom visar både *H. pylori* och dess värd på skillnader mellan individer i interaktionen. Dessutom blev aporna som saknade Le^b strukturen sjukare än de apor som hade detta socker. Efterssom *H. pylori* har stor förmåga att utveckla antibiotikaresistens är det är viktigt att identifiera vilka *H. pylori* stammar och vilka människor som är i riskzonen för att utveckla magsår eller magcancer och behandla dessa individer men ej de individer med "snälla" *H. pylori* och en *H. pylori*-okänslig individuell profil. Min forskning skulle i förlängningen kunna leda till att man hittar bättre kriterier för vilka som ska behandlas eller ej och den grundbiologiska informationen som jag presenterat skulle kunna ge förutsättning för att utveckla nya mediciner, både för behandling av *H. pylori* infektion och andra patogener som koloniserar slemhinnan.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank a bunch of people, both inside and outside the laboratories I have worked at, for supporting me and making my PhD studies and beyond enjoyable. Special thanks goes to:

Ingemar Carlstedt, for several years of fun, for providing an excellent lab, giving me plenty of freedom to pursue my scientific ideas and adventures and for advice and mentorship during my PhD studies as well as in the writing of my thesis.

The past and present mucosal biology group members, Julia, Annika, Annkatrin, Henrik, Claes, Naila, Wayne, Jonas, Stina, Jenny and Hans, for generous help, discussions about science, methods and life in general. I am especially grateful to Julia for all your linguistic advice, both for my thesis and for the papers, to Claes for computer support, and to Jonas and Annika for technical assistance.

The rest of the department of Cell and Matrix Biology, for creating a nice work environment, and in particular Agneta for always being helpful with bureaucratic issues.

Thomas Borén and his *H. pylori* Team in Umeå, especially Jafar and Marina, for good collaboration and sharing your expertise and perspective.

Dr André Dubois at USUHS for welcoming me into your lab, for a very fruitful collaboration, endless enthusiasm, and valuable advice regarding the pathology section of my thesis, Drs Christina Semino-mora and Walter Rush for friendship, optimistic attitudes, your patience while sharing your pathology knowledge with me and valuable advice regarding the pathology section of my thesis, Cecilia and for your beautiful smile brightening our USUHS office, Evelyn and Seper for interesting lunch discussions and company, Lilly for cutting great sections promptly, the USUHS Toastmaster crew for supporting me in my attempts to improve my public speaking and Dr Leslie Sobin and the gastrointestinal section at AFIP for showing me multiple pathological stomachs that I would never encounter other vice. In addition, I thank the US army boxing team for enjoyable stress relief and Dance Bohemians for all the great parties and dances.

Dr Lakschmi Putcha at NASA for having me in the lab for a month and sharing your wisdom about difficulties regarding human experiments, and Mark, Tom and Hillary for sharing my fascination for the living world, for friendship, barbeques, and all the laughter tumbling around in the snow when the hot tub gets too warm.

Leonor David, for helpful advice on histological methods and identification of 'strange cells' and Jacques Bara for advice on Lewis antibodies.

Ulla-Britt Hansson and Wilma Martines for opening my eyes for how much fun biochemistry can be and for loads of encouragement.

I'm also grateful to "Glycoconjugates in Biological Systems" sponsored by the Swedish Foundation for Strategic Research, for financial support, for providing a bunch of fun meetings and courses and for all the fun loving and interesting colleagues in GLIBS, and to Sixten Gemzeus stiftelse for financing a stay at USUHS.

Thank you my dear friends Sofie, Sara and Johannes, for reading my Swedish popularized summary and letting me know when it was not popularized at all but completely un-understandable, giving me helpful suggestions on how to improve the readability and thanks Johannes for help with the computer issues. Also, Thank you, the rest of my beloved friends (especially Jenny, Helene, Anders and Mukesh) family (Mamma, Pappa & Markus) and God for love, guidance and support.



REFERENCES

- 1. Moncada DM, Kammanadiminti SJ, Chadee K. Mucin and Toll-like receptors in host defense against intestinal parasites. Trends Parasitol 2003;19:305-11.
- 2. Atuma C, Strugala V, Allen A, Holm L. The adherent gastrointestinal mucus gel layer: thickness and physical state in vivo. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 2001;280:G922-9.
- 3. Soler M, Desplat-Jego S, Vacher B, Ponsonnet L, Fraterno M, Bongrand P, Martin JM, Foa C. Adhesion-related glycocalyx study: quantitative approach with imaging-spectrum in the energy filtering transmission electron microscope (EFTEM). FEBS Lett 1998;429:89-94.
- 4. Ito S. The enteric surface coat on cat intestinal microvilli. JCB 1965;27:475-491.
- 5. Ito S. structure and function of the glycocalyx. Federation Proceedings, Gastroenterology 1969;28:12-25.
- 6. Madara JL, Trier JS. Functional morphology of the mucosa of the small intestine, physiology of the gastrointestinal tract. Raven press, 1987.
- 7. Kuby J. Immunology. W. H Freeman and Company, 1997.
- 8. Salyers AA, Whitt DD. Host defences against bacterial pathogens: Defences of body surfaces. Bacterial Pathogenesis: a molecular approach. Washington, DC: ASM Press, 1994:3-14.
- 9. Lewin D, Lewin K. Stomach: Normal anatomy and histology. In: Graham D, Genta R, Dixon M, eds. Gastritis: Lippincott, Williams & Wilkins, 1999.
- 10. Jordan N, Newton J, Pearson J, Allen A. A novel method for the visualization of the in situ mucus layer in rat and man. Clin Sci (Lond) 1998;95:97-106.
- 11. Allen A, Flemstöm G, Garner A, Kivilaakso E. Gastroduodenal mucosal protection. Physiological Reviews 1993;73:823-857.
- 12. Karam SM. Lineage commitment and maturation of epithelial cells in the gut. Front Biosci 1999;4:D286-98.
- 13. Dixon M. The components of gastritis. In: Graham D, Genta R, Dixon M, eds. Gastritis: Lippincott, Williams & Wilkins, 1999.
- 14. Day D, Dixon M. Biopsy pathology of the esophagus, stomach and duodenum. Chapman and Hall, 1995.
- 15. Klein A, Carnoy C, Lamblin G, Roussel P, van Kuik JA, Vliegenthart JF. Isolation and structural characterization of novel sialylated oligosaccharide-alditols from respiratory-mucus glycoproteins of a patient suffering from bronchiectasis. Eur J Biochem 1993;211:491-500.
- 16. Rogers DF. Airway goblet cells: responsive and adaptable front-line defenders. Eur Respir J 1994;7:1690-706.
- 17. Davies JR, Herrmann A, Russel W, Svitacheva N, Wickström C, Carlstedt I. Respiratory tract mucins: structure and expression patterns. In: Chadwick DJ, Goode JA, eds. Mucus hypersecretion in respiratory disease. Chichester and New York: John Wiley & Sons Ltd, 2002:76-93.
- Wreschner DH, McGuckin MA, Williams SJ, Baruch A, Yoeli M, Ziv R, Okun L, Zaretsky J, Smorodinsky N, Keydar I, Neophytou P, Stacey M, Lin HH, Gordon S. Generation of ligand-receptor alliances by "SEA" module-mediated cleavage of membrane-associated mucin proteins. Protein Sci 2002;11:698-706.
- 19. Moniaux N, Escande F, Batra SK, Porchet N, Laine A, Aubert JP. Alternative splicing generates a family of putative secreted and membrane-associated MUC4 mucins. Eur J Biochem 2000;267:4536-44.
- 20. Williams SJ, Wreschner DH, Tran M, Eyre HJ, Sutherland GR, McGuckin MA. Muc13, a novel human cell surface mucin expressed by epithelial and hemopoietic cells. J Biol Chem 2001;276:18327-36.
- Williams SJ, McGuckin MA, Gotley DC, Eyre HJ, Sutherland GR, Antalis TM. Two novel mucin genes down-regulated in colorectal cancer identified by differential display. Cancer Res 1999;59:4083-9.
- 22. Gum JR, Jr., Crawley SC, Hicks JW, Szymkowski DE, Kim YS. MUC17, a novel membrane-tethered mucin. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2002;291:466-75.
- 23. Corfield AP, Carroll D, Myerscough N, Probert CS. Mucins in the gastrointestinal tract in health and disease. Front Biosci 2001;6:D1321-57.
- 24. Wreschner DH, Hareuveni M, Tsarfaty I, Smorodinsky N, Horev J, Zaretsky J, Kotkes P, Weiss M, Lathe R, Dion A, et al. Human epithelial tumor antigen cDNA sequences. Differential splicing may generate multiple protein forms. Eur J Biochem 1990;189:463-73.

- 25. Parry S, Silverman HS, McDermott K, Willis A, Hollingsworth MA, Harris A. Identification of MUC1 proteolytic cleavage sites in vivo. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2001;283:715-20.
- 26. Gendler SJ, Spicer AP. Epithelial mucin genes. Annu Rev Physiol 1995;57:607-34.
- 27. Ligtenberg MJ, Vos HL, Gennissen AM, Hilkens J. Episialin, a carcinoma-associated mucin, is generated by a polymorphic gene encoding splice variants with alternative amino termini. J Biol Chem 1990;265:5573-8.
- 28. Hilkens J, Ligtenberg MJ, Vos HL, Litvinov SV. Cell membrane-associated mucins and their adhesion-modulating property. Trends Biochem Sci 1992;17:359-63.
- 29. Ligtenberg MJ, Kruijshaar L, Buijs F, van Meijer M, Litvinov SV, Hilkens J. Cell-associated episialin is a complex containing two proteins derived from a common precursor. J Biol Chem 1992;267:6171-7.
- 30. Litvinov SV, Hilkens J. The epithelial sialomucin, episialin, is sialylated during recycling. J Biol Chem 1993;268:21364-71.
- 31. Altschuler Y, Kinlough CL, Poland PA, Bruns JB, Apodaca G, Weisz OA, Hughey RP. Clathrinmediated endocytosis of MUC1 is modulated by its glycosylation state. Mol Biol Cell 2000;11:819-31.
- 32. Thingstad T, Vos HL, Hilkens J. Biosynthesis and shedding of epiglycanin: a mucin-type glycoprotein of the mouse TA3Ha mammary carcinoma cell. Biochem J 2001;353:33-40.
- 33. Wykes M, MacDonald KP, Tran M, Quin RJ, Xing PX, Gendler SJ, Hart DN, McGuckin MA. MUC1 epithelial mucin (CD227) is expressed by activated dendritic cells. J Leukoc Biol 2002;72:692-701.
- 34. Pandey P, Kharbanda S, Kufe D. Association of the DF3/MUC1 breast cancer antigen with Grb2 and the Sos/Ras exchange protein. Cancer Res 1995;55:4000-3.
- 35. Baruch A, Hartmann M, Yoeli M, Adereth Y, Greenstein S, Stadler Y, Skornik Y, Zaretsky J, Smorodinsky NI, Keydar I, Wreschner DH. The breast cancer-associated MUC1 gene generates both a receptor and its cognate binding protein. Cancer Res 1999;59:1552-61.
- 36. DeSouza MM, Surveyor GA, Price RE, Julian J, Kardon R, Zhou X, Gendler S, Hilkens J, Carson DD. MUC1/episialin: a critical barrier in the female reproductive tract. J Reprod Immunol 1999;45:127-58.
- 37. Kardon R, Price RE, Julian J, Lagow E, Tseng SC, Gendler SJ, Carson DD. Bacterial conjunctivitis in Muc1 null mice. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 1999;40:1328-35.
- 38. Vinall LE, King M, Novelli M, Green CA, Daniels G, Hilkens J, Sarner M, Swallow DM. Altered expression and allelic association of the hypervariable membrane mucin MUC1 in Helicobacter pylori gastritis. Gastroenterology 2002;123:41-9.
- 39. Swallow DM, Gendler S, Griffiths B, Corney G, Taylor-Papadimitriou J, Bramwell ME. The human tumour-associated epithelial mucins are coded by an expressed hypervariable gene locus PUM. Nature 1987;328:82-4.
- 40. Ho SB, Shekels LL, Toribara NW, Kim YS, Lyftogt C, Cherwitz DL, Niehans GA. Mucin gene expression in normal, preneoplastic, and neoplastic human gastric epithelium. Cancer Res 1995;55:2681-90.
- 41. Gum JR, Jr., Hicks JW, Toribara NW, Rothe EM, Lagace RE, Kim YS. The human MUC2 intestinal mucin has cysteine-rich subdomains located both upstream and downstream of its central repetitive region. J Biol Chem 1992;267:21375-83.
- 42. Allen A, Hutton DA, Pearson JP. The MUC2 gene product: a human intestinal mucin. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 1998;30:797-801.
- 43. Pratt WS, Crawley S, Hicks J, Ho J, Nash M, Kim YS, Gum JR, Swallow DM. Multiple transcripts of MUC3: evidence for two genes, MUC3A and MUC3B. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2000;275:916-23.
- 44. Mack DR, Ahrne S, Hyde L, Wei S, Hollingsworth MA. Extracellular MUC3 mucin secretion follows adherence of Lactobacillus strains to intestinal epithelial cells in vitro. Gut 2003;52:827-33.
- 45. Vandenhaute B, Buisine MP, Debailleul V, Clement B, Moniaux N, Dieu MC, Degand P, Porchet N, Aubert JP. Mucin gene expression in biliary epithelial cells. J Hepatol 1997;27:1057-66.
- 46. Porchet N, Nguyen VC, Dufosse J, Audie JP, Guyonnet-Duperat V, Gross MS, Denis C, Degand P, Bernheim A, Aubert JP. Molecular cloning and chromosomal localization of a novel human tracheobronchial mucin cDNA containing tandemly repeated sequences of 48 base pairs. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1991;175:414-22.
- 47. Gipson IK, Moccia R, Spurr-Michaud S, Argueso P, Gargiulo AR, Hill JA, Offner GD, Keutmann HT. The Amount of MUC5B mucin in cervical mucus peaks at midcycle. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2001;86:594-600.
- 48. Toribara NW, Roberton AM, Ho SB, Kuo WL, Gum E, Hicks JW, Gum JR, Jr., Byrd JC, Siddiki B, Kim YS. Human gastric mucin. Identification of a unique species by expression cloning. J Biol Chem 1993;268:5879-85.

- 49. Bobek LA, Tsai H, Biesbrock AR, Levine MJ. Molecular cloning, sequence, and specificity of expression of the gene encoding the low molecular weight human salivary mucin (MUC7). J Biol Chem 1993;268:20563-9.
- 50. Yin BW, Lloyd KO. Molecular cloning of the CA125 ovarian cancer antigen: identification as a new mucin, MUC16. J Biol Chem 2001;276:27371-5.
- 51. Chen Y, Zhao YH, Kalaslavadi TB, Hamati E, Nehrke K, Le AD, Ann DK, Wu R. Genome-Wide Search and Identification of a Novel Gel-Forming Mucin MUC19/Muc19 in Glandular Tissues. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 2003.
- 52. Jentoft N. Why are proteins O-glycosylated? Trends Biochem Sci 1990;15:291-4.
- 53. Herrmann A. Intestinal mucins 'Soluble and Insoluble Problems'. PhD thesis, Lund University, 2000.
- 54. McCool DJ, Okada Y, Forstner JF, Forstner GG. Roles of calreticulin and calnexin during mucin synthesis in LS180 and HT29/A1 human colonic adenocarcinoma cells. Biochem J 1999;341 (Pt 3):593-600.
- 55. Ho JJ, Jaituni RS, Crawley SC, Yang SC, Gum JR, Kim YS. N-glycosylation is required for the surface localization of MUC17 mucin. Int J Oncol 2003;23:585-92.
- 56. Kui Wong N, Easton RL, Panico M, Sutton-Smith M, Morrison JC, Lattanzio FA, Morris HR, Clark GF, Dell A, Patankar MS. Characterization of the oligosaccharides associated with the human ovarian tumor marker CA125. J Biol Chem 2003;278:28619-34.
- 57. Oriol R. ABO, Hh, Lewis, and secretion Serology, Genetics, and tissue distribution. In: Cartron JP, Rouger P, eds. Blood Cell Biochemistry. Volume 6. New York: Plenum press, 1995:Chapter 2.
- 58. Oriol R, Mollicone R, Coullin P, Dalix AM, Candelier JJ. Genetic regulation of the expression of ABH and Lewis antigens in tissues. APMIS Suppl 1992;27:28-38.
- 59. Marionneau S, Cailleau-Thomas A, Rocher J, Le Moullac-Vaidye B, Ruvoen N, Clement M, Le Pendu J. ABH and Lewis histo-blood group antigens, a model for the meaning of oligosaccharide diversity in the face of a changing world. Biochimie 2001;83:565-73.
- 60. Karlsson NG, Olson FJ, Jovall PA, Andersch Y, Enerback L, Hansson GC. Identification of transient glycosylation alterations of sialylated mucin oligosaccharides during infection by the rat intestinal parasite Nippostrongylus brasiliensis. Biochem J 2000;350 Pt 3:805-14.
- 61. Lamblin G, Degroote S, Perini JM, Delmotte P, Scharfman A, Davril M, Lo-Guidice JM, Houdret N, Dumur V, Klein A, Rousse P. Human airway mucin glycosylation: a combinatory of carbohydrate determinants which vary in cystic fibrosis. Glycoconj J 2001;18:661-84.
- 62. Ota H, Nakayama J, Momose M, Hayama M, Akamatsu T, Katsuyama T, Graham DY, Genta RM. Helicobacter pylori infection produces reversible glycosylation changes to gastric mucins. Virchows Arch 1998;433:419-26.
- 63. De Bolos C, Garrido M, Real FX. MUC6 apomucin shows a distinct normal tissue distribution that correlates with Lewis antigen expression in the human stomach. Gastroenterology 1995;109:723-34.
- 64. Sheehan JK, Brazeau C, Kutay S, Pigeon H, Kirkham S, Howard M, Thornton DJ. Physical characterization of the MUC5AC mucin: a highly oligomeric glycoprotein whether isolated from cell culture or in vivo from respiratory mucous secretions. Biochem J 2000;347 Pt 1:37-44.
- 65. Toribara NW, Ho SB, Gum E, Gum JR, Jr., Lau P, Kim YS. The carboxyl-terminal sequence of the human secretory mucin, MUC6. Analysis Of the primary amino acid sequence. J Biol Chem 1997;272:16398-403.
- 66. Murata K, Egami H, Shibata Y, Sakamoto K, Misumi A, Ogawa M. Expression of blood group-related antigens, ABH, Lewis(a), Lewis(b), Lewis(x), Lewis(y), CA19-9, and CSLEX1 in early cancer, intestinal metaplasia, and uninvolved mucosa of the stomach. Am J Clin Pathol 1992;98:67-75.
- 67. Taylor DE, Rasko DA, Sherburne R, Ho C, Jewell LD. Lack of correlation between Lewis antigen expression by Helicobacter pylori and gastric epithelial cells in infected patients. Gastroenterology 1998;115:1113-22.
- Buisine MP, Devisme L, Maunoury V, Deschodt E, Gosselin B, Copin MC, Aubert JP, Porchet N. Developmental mucin gene expression in the gastroduodenal tract and accessory digestive glands. I. Stomach. A relationship to gastric carcinoma. J Histochem Cytochem 2000;48:1657-66.
- 69. Agrawal B, Gendler SJ, Longenecker BM. The biological role of mucins in cellular interactions and immune regulation: prospects for cancer immunotherapy. Mol Med Today 1998;4:397-403.
- 70. Wang JY, Chang CT, Hsieh JS, Lee LW, Huang TJ, Chai CY, Lin SR. Role of MUC1 and MUC5AC expressions as prognostic indicators in gastric carcinomas. J Surg Oncol 2003;83:253-60.
- 71. Byrd JC, Yan P, Sternberg L, Yunker CK, Scheiman JM, Bresalier RS. Aberrant expression of glandtype gastric mucin in the surface epithelium of Helicobacter pylori-infected patients. Gastroenterology 1997;113:455-64.

- 72. Varki A, Cummings R, Esko J, Freeze H, Hart G, Marth J. Glycosylation changes in cancer. In: Varki A, ed. Essentials of glycobiology. cold spring harbor, New York: Cold spring harbor laboratory press, 2002.
- 73. Saez C, Japon MA, Poveda MA, Segura DI. Mucinous (colloid) adenocarcinomas secrete distinct Oacylated forms of sialomucins: a histochemical study of gastric, colorectal and breast adenocarcinomas. Histopathology 2001;39:554-60.
- 74. Salyers AA, Whitt DD. Virulence factors that promote colonization. Bacterial Pathogenesis: a molecular approach. Washington, DC: ASM Press, 1994:30-46.
- 75. Salyers AA, Whitt DD. Virulence factors that damage the host. Bacterial Pathogenesis: a molecular approach. Washington, DC: ASM Press, 1994:47-62.
- 76. Nataro JP, Blaser MJ, Cunningham Rundles S. Persistant and bacterial infections: commensalisms gone awry or adaptive niche. ASM Press, 2000.
- 77. Bry L, Falk PG, Midtvedt T, Gordon JI. A model of host-microbial interactions in an open mammalian ecosystem. Science 1996;273:1380-3.
- 78. Dubois A. Spiral bacteria in the human stomach: the gastric helicobacters. Emerg Infect Dis 1995;1:79-85.
- 79. Heilmann KL, Borchard F. Gastritis due to spiral shaped bacteria other than Helicobacter pylori: clinical, histological, and ultrastructural findings. Gut 1991;32:137-40.
- 80. Stolte M, Kroher G, Meining A, Morgner A, Bayerdorffer E, Bethke B. A comparison of Helicobacter pylori and H. heilmannii gastritis. A matched control study involving 404 patients. Scand J Gastroenterol 1997;32:28-33.
- 81. Genta R. Infectious gastritis. In: Graham D, Genta R, Dixon M, eds. Gastritis: Lippincott, Williams & Wilkins, 1999.
- 82. Björkholm B, Falk P, Engstrand L, Nyren O. Helicobacter pylori: resurrection of the cancer link. J Intern Med 2003;253:102-19.
- 83. Helicobacter and Cancer Collaborative Group. Gastric cancer and Helicobacter pylori: a combined analysis of 12 case control studies nested within prospective cohorts. Gut 2001;49:347-53.
- 84. IARC. IARC Monograph on the evaluation of cacinogenic risks to humans. Schistosomes, liver flukes and Helicobacter pylori. nternational Agency for Research on Cancer, 1994.
- 85. Kavermann H, Burns BP, Angermuller K, Odenbreit S, Fischer W, Melchers K, Haas R. Identification and characterization of Helicobacter pylori genes essential for gastric colonization. J Exp Med 2003;197:813-22.
- 86. Dixon MF. Helicobacter pylori physiology and genetics. Amer Society for Microbiology, 2001.
- 87. Zhang ZW, Dorrell N, Wren BW, Farthingt MJ. Helicobacter pylori adherence to gastric epithelial cells: a role for non-adhesin virulence genes. J Med Microbiol 2002;51:495-502.
- 88. Shimizu T, Akamatsu T, Ota H, Katsuyama T. Immunohistochemical detection of Helicobacter pylori in the surface mucous gel layer and its clinicopathological significance. Helicobacter 1996;1:197-206.
- 89. Semino-Mora C, Doi SQ, Marty A, Simko V, Carlstedt I, Dubois A. Intracellular and interstitial expression of Helicobacter pylori virulence genes in gastric precancerous intestinal metaplasia and adenocarcinoma. J Infect Dis 2003;187:1165-77.
- 90. Tzouvelekis LS, Mentis AF, Makris AM, Spiliadis C, Blackwell C, Weir DM. In vitro binding of Helicobacter pylori to human gastric mucin. Infect Immun 1991;59:4252-4.
- 91. Nordman H, Borén T, Davies JR, Engstrand L, Carlstedt I. pH-dependent binding of Helicobacter pylori to pig gastric mucins. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol 1999;24:175-81.
- 92. Hirmo S, Kelm S, Iwersen M, Hotta K, Goso Y, Ishihara K, Suguri T, Morita M, Wadström T, Schauer R. Inhibition of Helicobacter pylori sialic acid-specific haemagglutination by human gastrointestinal mucins and milk glycoproteins. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol 1998;20:275-81.
- 93. Van De Bovenkamp JH, Mahdavi J, Korteland-Van Male AM, Buller HA, Einerhand AW, Borén T, Dekker J. The MUC5AC Glycoprotein is the Primary Receptor for Helicobacter pylori in the Human Stomach. Helicobacter 2003;8:521-32.
- 94. Van den Brink GR, Tytgat KM, Van der Hulst RW, Van der Loos CM, Einerhand AW, Buller HA, Dekker J. H pylori colocalises with MUC5AC in the human stomach. Gut 2000;46:601-7.
- 95. Prakobphol A, Xu F, Hoang VM, Larsson T, Bergstrom J, Johansson I, Frangsmyr L, Holmskov U, Leffler H, Nilsson C, Borén T, Wright JR, Stromberg N, Fisher SJ. Salivary agglutinin, which binds Streptococcus mutans and Helicobacter pylori, is the lung scavenger receptor cysteine-rich protein gp-340. J Biol Chem 2000;275:39860-6.
- 96. Newton JL, Jordan N, Oliver L, Strugala V, Pearson J, James OF, Allen A. Helicobacter pylori in vivo causes structural changes in the adherent gastric mucus layer but barrier thickness is not compromised. Gut 1998;43:470-5.

- 97. Byrd JC, Bresalier RS. Alterations in gastric mucin synthesis by Helicobacter pylori. World J Gastroenterol 2000;6:475-482.
- 98. Byrd JC, Yunker CK, Xu QS, Sternberg LR, Bresalier RS. Inhibition of gastric mucin synthesis by Helicobacter pylori. Gastroenterology 2000;118:1072-9.
- 99. Slomiany BL, Slomiany A. Disruption in gastric mucin synthesis by Helicobacter pylori lipopolysaccharide involves ERK and p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase participation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2002;294:220-4.
- 100. Micots I, Augeron C, Laboisse CL, Muzeau F, Megraud F. Mucin exocytosis: a major target for Helicobacter pylori. J Clin Pathol 1993;46:241-5.
- 101. Valkonen KH, Wadström T, Moran AP. Identification of the N-acetylneuraminyllactose-specific laminin-binding protein of Helicobacter pylori. Infect Immun 1997;65:916-23.
- 102. Hirmo S, Utt M, Ringner M, Wadström T. Inhibition of heparan sulphate and other glycosaminoglycans binding to Helicobacter pylori by various polysulphated carbohydrates. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol 1995;10:301-6.
- 103. Ringner M, Valkonen KH, Wadström T. Binding of vitronectin and plasminogen to Helicobacter pylori. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol 1994;9:29-34.
- 104. Valkonen KH, Wadstrom T, Moran AP. Interaction of lipopolysaccharides of Helicobacter pylori with basement membrane protein laminin. Infect Immun 1994;62:3640-8.
- 105. Pantzar M, Ljungh A, Wadström T. Plasminogen binding and activation at the surface of Helicobacter pylori CCUG 17874. Infect Immun 1998;66:4976-80.
- 106. Tomb JF, White O, Kerlavage AR, Clayton RA, Sutton GG, Fleischmann RD, Ketchum KA, Klenk HP, Gill S, Dougherty BA, Nelson K, Quackenbush J, Zhou L, Kirkness EF, Peterson S, Loftus B, Richardson D, Dodson R, Khalak HG, Glodek A, McKenney K, Fitzegerald LM, Lee N, Adams MD, Venter JC, et al. The complete genome sequence of the gastric pathogen Helicobacter pylori. Nature 1997;388:539-47.
- 107. Boren T, Falk P, Roth KA, Larson G, Normark S. Attachment of Helicobacter pylori to human gastric epithelium mediated by blood group antigens. Science 1993;262:1892-5.
- 108. Ilver D, Arnqvist A, Ogren J, Frick IM, Kersulyte D, Incecik ET, Berg DE, Covacci A, Engstrand L, Borén T. Helicobacter pylori adhesin binding fucosylated histo-blood group antigens revealed by retagging. Science 1998;279:373-7.
- 109. Gerhard M, Lehn N, Neumayer N, Borén T, Rad R, Schepp W, Miehlke S, Classen M, Prinz C. Clinical relevance of the Helicobacter pylori gene for blood-group antigen-binding adhesin. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1999;96:12778-83.
- 110. Prinz C, Schoniger M, Rad R, Becker I, Keiditsch E, Wagenpfeil S, Classen M, Rosch T, Schepp W, Gerhard M. Key importance of the Helicobacter pylori adherence factor blood group antigen binding adhesin during chronic gastric inflammation. Cancer Res 2001;61:1903-9.
- 111. Mahdavi J, Sonden B, Hurtig M, Olfat FO, Forsberg L, Roche N, Angstrom J, Larsson T, Teneberg S, Karlsson KA, Altraja S, Wadstrom T, Kersulyte D, Berg DE, Dubois A, Petersson C, Magnusson KE, Norberg T, Lindh F, Lundskog BB, Arnqvist A, Hammarstrom L, Borén T. Helicobacter pylori SabA adhesin in persistent infection and chronic inflammation. Science 2002;297:573-8.
- 112. Evans DJ, Jr., Evans DG. Helicobacter pylori adhesins: review and perspectives. Helicobacter 2000;5:183-95.
- 113. Olfat FO, Aspholm M, Roche N, Sondén B, Engstrand L, Teneberg S, Borén T. The Neuraminyllactose-Binding Hemaglutinin of *Helicobacter pylori* is identical to the Sialic Acid Binding Adhesin, SabA. In: Olfat FO, ed. PhD thesis. Volume Helicobacter pylori Bacterial Adhesion and Host Response. Umeå University, 2003:appendix III.
- 114. Teneberg S, Miller-Podraza H, Lampert HC, Evans DJ, Jr., Evans DG, Danielsson D, Karlsson KA. Carbohydrate binding specificity of the neutrophil-activating protein of Helicobacter pylori. J Biol Chem 1997;272:19067-71.
- 115. Namavar F, Sparrius M, Veerman EC, Appelmelk BJ, Vandenbroucke-Grauls CM. Neutrophilactivating protein mediates adhesion of Helicobacter pylori to sulfated carbohydrates on highmolecular-weight salivary mucin. Infect Immun 1998;66:444-7.
- 116. Kamisago S, Iwamori M, Tai T, Mitamura K, Yazaki Y, Sugano K. Role of sulfatides in adhesion of Helicobacter pylori to gastric cancer cells. Infect Immun 1996;64:624-8.
- 117. Mahdavi J, Borén T, Vandenbroucke-Grauls C, Appelmelk BJ. Limited role of lipopolysaccharide Lewis antigens in adherence of Helicobacter pylori to the human gastric epithelium. Infect Immun 2003;71:2876-80.

- 118. Munoz L, Gonzalez-Valencia G, Perez-Perez GI, Giono-Cerezo S, Munoz O, Torres J. A comparison of Lewis x and Lewis y expression in Helicobacter pylori obtained from children and adults. J Infect Dis 2001;183:1147-51.
- 119. Odenbreit S, Till M, Hofreuter D, Faller G, Haas R. Genetic and functional characterization of the alpAB gene locus essential for the adhesion of Helicobacter pylori to human gastric tissue. Mol Microbiol 1999;31:1537-48.
- 120. Uemura N, Okamoto S, Yamamoto S, Matsumura N, Yamaguchi S, Yamakido M, Taniyama K, Sasaki N, Schlemper RJ. Helicobacter pylori infection and the development of gastric cancer. N Engl J Med 2001;345:784-9.
- 121. Klausz G, Tiszai A, Tiszlavicz L, Gyulai Z, Lenart Z, Lonovics J, Mandi Y. Local and peripheral cytokine response and CagA status of Helicobacter pylori-positive patients with duodenal ulcer. Eur Cytokine Netw 2003;14:143-8.
- 122. Holck S, Norgaard A, Bennedsen M, Permin H, Norn S, Andersen LP. Gastric mucosal cytokine responses in Helicobacter pylori-infected patients with gastritis and peptic ulcers. Association with inflammatory parameters and bacteria load. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol 2003;36:175-80.
- 123. Correa P, Filipe I, Torrado J. Gastritis and gastric neoplasia. In: D. G, Genta R, Dixon M, eds. Gastritis: Lippincott, Williams & Wilkins, 1999.
- 124. Torrado J, Plummer M, Vivas J, Garay J, Lopez G, Peraza S, Carillo E, Oliver W, Munoz N. Lewis antigen alterations in a population at high risk of stomach cancer. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2000;9:671-4.
- 125. Umlauft F, Keeffe EB, Offner F, Weiss G, Feichtinger H, Lehmann E, Kilga-Nogler S, Schwab G, Propst A, Grussnewald K, Judmaier G. Helicobacter pylori infection and blood group antigens: lack of clinical association. Am J Gastroenterol 1996;91:2135-8.
- 126. Mourant AE, Kopec AC, Domanieewska-Sobczak K. Blood groups and diseases, a study of associations of diseases with blood groups and other polymorphisms. 1978;Oxford University press, Oxford.
- 127. Heneghan MA, Moran AP, Feeley KM, Egan EL, Goulding J, Connolly CE, McCarthy CF. Effect of host Lewis and ABO blood group antigen expression on Helicobacter pylori colonisation density and the consequent inflammatory response. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol 1998;20:257-66.
- 128. Cederberg A, Varis K, Salmi HA, Sipponen P, Harkonen M, Sarna S. Young onset peptic ulcer disease and non-ulcer dyspepsia are separate entities. Scand J Gastroenterol Suppl 1991;186:33-44.
- 129. Hallstone AE, Perez EA. Blood type and the risk of gastric disease. Science 1994;264:1386-8.
- 130. de Mattos LC, Rodrigues Cintra J, Sanches FE, Alves da Silva Rde C, Ruiz MA, Moreira HW. ABO, Lewis, secretor and non-secretor phenotypes in patients infected or uninfected by the Helicobacter pylori bacillus. Sao Paulo Med J 2002;120:55-8.
- 131. Sheu BS, Sheu SM, Yang HB, Huang AH, Wu JJ. Host gastric Lewis expression determines the bacterial density of Helicobacter pylori in babA2 genopositive infection. Gut 2003;52:927-32.
- 132. Levenstein S, Ackerman S, Kiecolt-Glaser JK, Dubois A. Stress and peptic ulcer disease. Jama 1999;281:10-1.
- 133. Chamberlain CE. Acute hemorrhagic gastritis. Gastroenterol Clin North Am 1993;22:843-73.
- 134. Dubois A, Tarnawski A, Newell DG, Fiala N, Dabros W, Stachura J, Krivan H, Heman-Ackah LM. Gastric injury and invasion of parietal cells by spiral bacteria in rhesus monkeys. Are gastritis and hyperchlorhydria infectious diseases? Gastroenterology 1991;100:884-91.
- 135. Dixon M. Acute Helicobacter pylori gastritis. In: Graham D, Genta R, Dixon M, eds. Gastritis: Lippincott, Williams & Wilkins, 1999.
- 136. Graham D, Dixon M. Acid secretion, Helicobacter pylori infection, and peptic ulcer disease. In: Graham D, Genta R, Dixon M, eds. Gastritis: Lippincott, Williams & Wilkins, 1999.
- 137. Parasher G, Eastwood GL. Smoking and peptic ulcer in the Helicobacter pylori era. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2000;12:843-53.
- 138. Van der Hulst RW, Rauws EA, Koycu B, Keller JJ, Bruno MJ, Tijssen JG, Tytgat GN. Prevention of ulcer recurrence after eradication of Helicobacter pylori: a prospective long-term follow-up study. Gastroenterology 1997;113:1082-6.
- 139. Parkin DM, Bray FI, Devesa SS. Cancer burden in the year 2000. The global picture. Eur J Cancer 2001;37 Suppl 8:S4-66.
- 140. Correa P. Human gastric carcinogenesis: a multistep and multifactorial process--First American Cancer Society Award Lecture on Cancer Epidemiology and Prevention. Cancer Res 1992;52:6735-40.
- 141. Stolte M, Bayerdorffer E, Morgner A, Alpen B, Wundisch T, Thiede C, Neubauer A. Helicobacter and gastric MALT lymphoma. Gut 2002;50 Suppl 3:III19-24.

- 142. Stolte M, Eidt S. Helicobacter pylori and gastric mucosa associated lymphoid tissue lymphoma. In: D. G, Genta R, Dixon M, eds. Gastritis: Lippincott, Williams & Wilkins, 1999.
- 143. Sjunnesson H, Sturegard E, Grubb A, Willen R, Wadström T. Comparative study of Helicobacter pylori infection in guinea pigs and mice elevation of acute-phase protein C3 in infected guinea pigs. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol 2001;30:167-72.
- 144. Kim DH, Kim SW, Song YJ, Oh TY, Han SU, Kim YB, Joo HJ, Cho YK, Kim DY, Cho SW, Kim MW, Kim JH, Hahm KB. Long-term evaluation of mice model infected with Helicobacter pylori: focus on gastric pathology including gastric cancer. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2003;18 Suppl 1:14-23.
- 145. Sturegard E, Sjunnesson H, Ho B, Willen R, Aleljung P, Ng HC, Wadstrom T. Severe gastritis in guinea-pigs infected with Helicobacter pylori. J Med Microbiol 1998;47:1123-9.
- 146. Dubois A, Berg DE, Incecik ET, Fiala N, Heman-Ackah LM, Perez-Perez GI, Blaser MJ. Transient and persistent experimental infection of nonhuman primates with Helicobacter pylori: implications for human disease. Infect Immun 1996;64:2885-91.
- 147. Dubois A, Berg DE, Incecik ET, Fiala N, Heman-Ackah LM, Del Valle J, Yang M, Wirth HP, Perez-Perez GI, Blaser MJ. Host specificity of Helicobacter pylori strains and host responses in experimentally challenged nonhuman primates. Gastroenterology 1999;116:90-6.
- Dubois A, Fiala N, Weichbrod RH, Ward GS, Nix M, Mehlman PT, Taub DM, Perez-Perez GI, Blaser MJ. Seroepizootiology of Helicobacter pylori gastric infection in nonhuman primates housed in social environments. J Clin Microbiol 1995;33:1492-5.
- 149. Dubois A, Fiala N, Heman-Ackah LM, Drazek ES, Tarnawski A, Fishbein WN, Perez-Perez GI, Blaser MJ. Natural gastric infection with Helicobacter pylori in monkeys: a model for spiral bacteria infection in humans. Gastroenterology 1994;106:1405-17.
- 150. Socha WW, Moor-Jankowski J, Ruffie J. Blood groups of primates: present status, theoretical implications and practical applications: a review. J Med Primatol 1984;13:11-40.
- 151. Ichikawa T, Koizumi W, Takeuchi H, Okayasu I, Hayashida H, Saigenji K, Ishihara K. A new strategy for evaluation of the eradication treatment of Helicobacter pylori: validation of the analysis of mucin composition in human gastric juice. Clin Chim Acta 2001;303:69-73.
- 152. Nordman H, Davies JR, Herrmann A, Karlsson NG, Hansson GC, Carlstedt I. Mucus glycoproteins from pig gastric mucosa: identification of different mucin populations from the surface epithelium. Biochem J 1997;326:903-10.
- 153. Spicer SS, Katsuyama T, Sannes PL. Ultrastructural carbohydrate cytochemistry of gastric epithelium. Histochem J 1978;10:309-31.
- 154. Quin RJ, McGuckin MA. Phosphorylation of the cytoplasmic domain of the MUC1 mucin correlates with changes in cell-cell adhesion. Int J Cancer 2000;87:499-506.
- 155. Hooper LV, Gordon JI. Glycans as legislators of host-microbial interactions: spanning the spectrum from symbiosis to pathogenicity. Glycobiology 2001;11:1R-10R.
- 156. Majuri ML, Pinola M, Niemela R, Tiisala S, Natunen J, Renkonen O, Renkonen R. Alpha 2,3-sialyl and alpha 1,3-fucosyltransferase-dependent synthesis of sialyl Lewis x, an essential oligosaccharide present on L-selectin counterreceptors, in cultured endothelial cells. Eur J Immunol 1994;24:3205-10.
- 157. Karlsson NG, Olson FJ, Jovall PA, Andersch Y, Enerback L, Hansson GC. Identification of transient glycosylation alterations of sialylated mucin oligosaccharides during infection by the rat intestinal parasite Nippostrongylus brasiliensis. Biochem J 2000;350 Pt 3:805-14.
- 158. Kiuchi Y, Isobe Y, Kijima H, Muramatsu M, Higuchi S. Effect of cold-stress and indomethacin on the biosynthesis of gastric sulfated mucin in rats. Res Commun Mol Pathol Pharmacol 1997;98:179-89.
- 159. Shea-Donohue T, Danquechin-Dorval E, Montcalm E, El-Bayar H, Durakovic A, Conklin JJ, Dubois A. Alterations in gastric mucus secretion in rhesus monkeys after exposure to ionizing radiation. Gastroenterology 1985;88:685-90.
- 160. Okajima K, Murakami K, Liu W, Uchiba M. Inhibition of neutrophil activation by ranitidine contributes to prevent stress-induced gastric mucosal injury in rats. Crit Care Med 2000;28:2858-65.